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About our Annual Report  
Swan Hill Rural City Council is pleased to present it’s 2022/23 Annual Report, which 
provides a detailed account of our performance from 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2023.  

Documenting Council’s performance against the 2022/23 Budget and the Council Plan, the 
Annual Report highlights achievements and challenges faced within key service areas and 
programs. 

Council seeks to achieve community engagement and an understanding of Council’s 
operations by conducting its affairs openly and with integrity.  

Transparency in our decision-making and accountability are core values of Council, 
reflecting high levels of good governance.  

This report provides information to a variety of audiences including community groups, 
businesses, ratepayers, visitors, investors, government agencies and other interested 
stakeholders.  

Swan Hill Rural City Council would like to thank everyone who contributed photos to this annual report, with a special 

mention to Harmony Day photographers, Russell Singh and Anthony Whiting, for generously allowing the use of their 

photos. 
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Introduction 
Provides a snapshot of our region and highlights what we have accomplished. 

The year in review 
Messages from our Mayor and CEO, a financial summary and major project highlights.  

Our Council 
Our region’s history and profile, and information on our Councillors.  

Our people 
Information on Council’s employees, including our organisational structure, occupational health 

and safety, equal opportunity, and appreciating our staff. 

Our performance 
Results against our Council Plan key strategic initiatives, Local Government performance 

reporting indicators, and major initiatives and services identified in the 2022/23 Budget.  

Corporate governance 
Governance and statutory information including decision-making, elected members, risk 

management, benchmarking and accountability. 

Performance statement 
Local Government performance reporting indicators for sustainable capacity, service performance 

and financial performance. 

 

Financial performance 
Council’s general purpose financial statements. 

Welcome to the report of operations  
We are committed to transparent reporting and accountability to our community. The Annual Report 
is our primary means of advising residents within the Swan Hill Rural City Council region about our 
operations and performance during the 2022/23 financial year.  
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Snapshot of Council  

Swan Hill Rural City Council covers 6,116 square kilometres and is home to 21,403* people. It includes 
the townships of Swan Hill, Robinvale, Lake Boga, Nyah, Nyah West, Piangil, Beverford, Woorinen South, 
Ultima, Manangatang and Boundary Bend. 

The Swan Hill municipality has experienced significant growth over the past decade, led by the expansion 
of horticultural and agricultural practices and supported by an innovative manufacturing sector.  

This success is depicted by the fact that irrigated areas have been increasing with a higher proportion of 
mature, highvalue crops such as almonds and table grapes.  The region is one of Australia’s largest 
producers of almond and table grape plantings, vegetables including potatoes and carrots, stone fruit, 
olives, avocados and field crops. 

The region also boasts an impressive 69% of its municipality dedicated to cropping and associated 
dryland infrastructure, including wheat, barley, lentils, cereal/hay, pulses (including chickpeas and lupins), 
grazing, oats, and canola. 

More than 20 per cent of all jobs in the city are directly related to agriculture. 

The SunRISE report for Swan Hill on 2021 irrigated crops had a value of production of $1.22 billion, and 
an additional $268.4 million for dryland cropping. 

Located along the Murray River, tourism plays an important role in our region’s economy. Our climate and 
natural beauty attracted approximately 768,000 visitors this year as reported in the Murray Regional 
Tourism (MRT) Snapshot report, March 2023. Visitation was up by 39% and tourists spent 960,000 nights 
in the region – up by 14%. Overnight visitors spent $174 million on travel to the region, and increase of 
89.5%. With domestic visitors spent totalling $253 million on travel to the region - up by 91.7%.   

 

21,403*  

6,116km
2
 

3,655km  

 

 

12,230  

$3.293 billion  

10,223  

Our population 

Our area  

The length of our local  
roads (sealed and  
unsealed)  

Our rateable properties  

Annual economic output 

People working  

Our municipality: fast facts 

 
*2021 ABS data estimates the Swan Hill Rural Council residential population to be 21,403, however, due to ongoing concern that 
the ABS consistently underestimates the population of Robinvale, Council commissioned Geografia to undertake a population 
determination study. The ABS census figure of 2021 show the Robinvale population as 3,740 people. The work of Geografia has 
reliably demonstrated that the true Robinvale population sits at approximately 7,900 people; making the total residential 
population 25,367.  
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Vision Statement 
Built on strong foundations that embrace our rich 

history and natural environment, our region will be a 

place of progression and possibility , we are a 

community that is happy, healthy and harmonious—

we are empowered, we are respectful and we are 

proud. 

 

Our Mission  
We will lead, advocate, partner and provide efficient 

services and opportunities for growth and the 

wellbeing of our community, environment and 

economy. 

 

Our Values  
Council values our residents and community and 

will be responsive to their needs. In pursuing our 

objectives, we believe in, and are committed to, the 

following values:  

 

Community engagement  
We will ensure that our communities are consulted, 

listened to and informed.  

 

Leadership  
We will be at the centre of our community and by 

actively engaging our community we will form the 

collective view on strategic issues and will then 

express our views through strong advocacy and 

action.  

 

Fairness  
We will value and embrace the diversity of our 

community and ensure that all people are treated 

equally.  

 

Accountability  
We will be transparent and efficient in our activities 

and we will always value feedback.  

 
Trust  
We will act with integrity and earn the community’s 

trust by being a reliable partner in delivering 

services and providing facilities.  
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Highlights of the year 

Liveability 
 Successful trial of a Sustainable Vegetation 

Management Program with the use of three 
rescued goats. Zero labour, machinery and 
chemical use recorded on grass maintenance at 
retarding basin. 

 The Renewal Irrigation Program has upgraded all 
sports grounds and major parks and reserves with 
Galcon GSI Irrigation Controller units. The systems 
are controlled by a phone app and/or laptop and 
can be used anywhere in the world. This process 
will save Council in labour costs each year. A 
shared pathway and hydro-seed (grass) has 
reclaimed land from the number 9 channel along 
McCallum Street, adding a vast green space to 
Council maintained parklands. 

 Pioneer Settlement external landscaping works 
have been completed including aeration, irrigation, 
levelling, top dressing, soil treatment and over 
sowing. The project converted a previously barren 
area, with difficult terrain to maintain, into a 
complementary Pioneer Settlement entrance and 
parking upgrade.  

 The completion of the 2022/23 Tree Planting 
Program which included hundreds of trees being 
planted across Lake Boga, Swan Hill, Ultima, 
Nyah, Nyah West and Robinvale. 

 The completion of a section of landscaping works 
at Robinvale P12 and Community Library, has 
enhanced the space and created a welcoming 
environment. 

 Council successfully carried out two Roadside Pest 
and Weed Programs. As part of these initiatives, 
more than 340km of Council roadsides were 
treated for regionally controlled weeds, while 
248km were targeted for rabbit control. These 
efforts help to ensure the region’s unique and 
diverse wildlife is protected while also helping to 
reduce the impact of invasive species on farming 
communities. 

 In partnership with the Mallee CMA, Council 
delivered pest weed and animal control activities 
across 580ha. These efforts were specifically 
aimed at safeguarding the critically endangered 
Buloke Woodlands, an ecologically significant 
community, listed under the Environment 
Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 
(EPBC Act). 

 Council developed Home Energy Audit Toolkits 
that can be borrowed free of charge at each of 
Council’s library services to help community 

INTRODUCTION 

members beat the rising cost of electricity and 
gas and to help lower household emissions. The 
toolkits aim to guide users to conduct a full 
energy audit of their own home and identify ways 
to reduce household bills. 

 Council partnered with Better Building Finance 
(BBF), to enable Environmental Upgrade 
Finance to be offered to local businesses in the 
municipality. Local businesses can take out long-
term loans for works to become more 
environmentally sustainable, that can then be 
repaid quarterly alongside their Council rates. 

 

Prosperity 
 The Community Development Fund supported 

16 community groups/organisations that shared 
in just under $53,000 worth of funding to support 
various projects throughout the municipality. 

 Our 22/23 Event Support Fund allocated 
$80,468.75 in funding for events across the 
municipality. 

 Overnight visitors spent $174 million on travel to 
the region, an increase of 89.5%. With domestic 
visitors spend totalling $253 million on travel to 
the region - up by 91.7%.   

 Following a significant funding application 
process Swan Hill’s Country University Centre 
was approved in November 2022. The Country 
University Centre will help students in regional 
and remote areas access higher education, 
without having to leave their community. They 
provide student support and campus-style 
facilities for students who study online.  

 Council constructed and sold four out of eight 
proposed houses in Ronald Street, Robinvale. 

 Council has secured at least $13 million in new 
funds, since July 2022, from a variety of State 
and Federal Government funding programs, to 
enable the delivery of new or improved 
infrastructure and facilities. 

 Attendance rates at the Town Hall, for 
Performing Arts/Commercial Touring Shows, 
have seen an increase of 170%. 

 Attendance rates at the Town Hall, for Town Hall 
led events, have seen an increase of 52%. 

 Council released Stage 14 of its Tower Hill 
residential estate, and provided support to other 
newly established residential developments. 
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Challenges for 2022/23 
 

 The high river event in 2022 created extensive 
damage within our municipality to road networks, 
other assets, and infrastructure, including 
residential and commercial property damage. 
Recovery efforts will continue for quite some time 
as we continue to repair roads and infrastructure 
and work with Government to ensure we have the 
funds to do so. 

 Recruitment – our region is currently facing, like 
many other areas, a severe labour and skills 
shortage. The number of vacancies is at a high, 
which makes recruiting difficult and is further 
impacted by housing and childcare shortages. 

 

Major changes for 2022/23 
 
 Swan Hill Region Visitor Information Centre 

temporarily relocated to Swan Hill Senior Citizen 
Centre in March 2023. The decision followed the 
expiration of the lease, along with a funding 
variation agreement to construct a new Swan Hill 
Tourism and Cultural Hub at the Pioneer 
Settlement. The Economic and Community 
Development department also relocated to our 
main Splatt Street office. 

 Plant and Fleet acquisition has been impacted by 
worldwide supply chain blockages and 
replacement of some plant items have been 
delayed. Parts supply has also been an issue, with 
the most significant example being Councils Flow-
con Road patching truck was out of service for two 
months while waiting on parts. Setbacks like this 
impact our ability to provide acceptable service 

levels and Road Management Plan compliance. 

 

Harmony 
 Our municipality is proud to have more than 40 

nationalities among our community and a 
population that is welcoming and resilient. 

 We have welcomed 99 new citizens to our 
municipality in this financial year, coming from 
20 countries. 

 
Leadership 
 Reviewed Domestic Animal Management Plan   

 Reviewed OHS Framework and Management 
Plan   

 Reviewed Governance Rules   

 Adopted Project Management Governance 
Framework   

 Reviewed Public Interest Disclosure Policy and 
Procedure   

 Reviewed Gender Equality Committee Terms of 
Reference   

 Reviewed Business Continuity Management 
Framework   

 Reviewed Financial Hardship Policy and 
Procedure   

 Childsafe Standards Review of 
Processes against legislative changes 
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12,230 
rateable properties 

7,640 
tonnes of garbage,  

recycling and organics 
collected from  
kerbside bins 

2,855 

immunisations administered 

7,926 
visits to the Art Gallery 

143 
planning permits and 

134 
building permits issued 

Over 600 
Social media posts 

2,755 
registered  
animals 

130,923 
visits to aquatic facilities 

2,967 
active library members 

21,141 
people attended 267 events 
and performances at Swan 

Hill Town Hall PACC 

117 
media releases  

17,913 
hours of community care 

provided 

181 
inspections of  

food businesses 

$15.1 million 

spent on capital works 
projects 

5,764 
maternal and child health 

consultations 

INTRODUCTION 
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Year at a glance 

July 

New Library Outreach Vehicle 

A new Library Outreach Vehicle replaces the 
Mobile Library, allowing more programs and 
activities on visits to rural communities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NAIDOC Cultural Day 

Council and Mallee District Aboriginal Services 
held a family and cultural day to celebrate 
NAIDOC Week. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We saved 647 tonnes of drums from going 
into Landfill! 

DrumMUSTER regional consultant John Knight 
presented Acting Mayor Cr Bill Moar with 
a drumMUSTER Milestone Achievement Award 
in recognition of the municipalities’ efforts in 
collecting 600,000 drums for recycling since 
1999. 

 

 

August  

The Robertson Brothers are bringing back 
the good old days 

The Robertson Brothers bring back the good old 
days to the Swan Hill Town Hall PACC with their 
1960’s variety TV show. 

Gym expansion and aquatic upgrade are on 
the way 

Swan Hill Leisure Centre’s gym expansion and 
aquatic upgrades commenced. 
 

National Tree Planting Day 

In support of National Tree Day Mayor Cr Bill 
Moar teamed up with our Parks and Garden team 
to plant three new shade trees at Riverside Park. 

Vibrant villages Beverford 

Upgrades commenced in Beverford as part of the 
Vibrant Villages project. The project includes new 
car parking spaces and landscaping works. 
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September 

Swan Hill Youth Ball, ran by young people – 
for young people 

A local event – Swan Hill Youth Ball, ran by our 
Novo Youth Council returned bigger and better 
this year. Providing the opportunity for young 
people to come together in an inclusive 
environment. 

Swan Hill Soccer Pavilion 

Swan Hill Rural City Council’s newest sporting 
facility, Swan Hill Regional Soccer Hub, was 
formally opened by Mark Gepp MP on Tuesday, 
6 September. 

 

A record year for Heartbeat 

Swan Hill Rural City Council’s state-of-the-art 
Heartbeat of the Murray laser light show, has 
seen record visitations. 

INTRODUCTION 

October  

VNI West Kerang Link project funded 

Council celebrated news from the Australian and 
Victorian governments’ that the construction of 
the VNI-West KerangLink project will be jointly 
funded. 
 
The project will see a new 500KV transmission 
network interconnector constructed between 
Victoria and NSW via Kerang by 2028 and is the 
key first stage to unlocking enormous renewable 
energy supplies in northern Victoria. 

 

It's a team effort  

We received a visit from Emergency 
Management Commissioner Andrew Crisp, ADF 
Brigadier Matt Burr and VICSES Incident 
Controller Alistair Drayton. 
 
80 replacement ADF troops arrived on the 
ground to relieve the 30 ADF personnel, who had 
been supporting our local flood response efforts.  

Council’s welcome greater connectivity 

Digital connectivity and broadband services are 
set to be improved for communities within Swan 
Hill Rural City Council and Murray River Council, 
thanks to funding support from the Victorian 
Government, and the NSW Cross Border 
Commissioners Infrastructure fund. 
 

Libraries to help local residents Get Online! 

‘Get Online Week 2022’ was held from 17-21 
October.  
The annual campaign aims to support local 
residents that are not online, through digital skills 
mentoring events.  
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November  

Country University Centre – Mallee, is on the 
horizon 

Higher education students in the Swan Hill region 
are set to benefit from a new Country University 
Centre, soon to be based in Swan Hill. 
 

Free Japanese Encephalitis Vaccinations 
sessions 

Swan Hill Rural City Council residents can take 
advantage of free Japanese Encephalitis 
Vaccinations sessions, being run by Council this 
month. 

Cr Les McPhee elected as Mayor Councillor  

Les McPhee has been elected as Mayor of Swan 
Hill Rural City Council.  It will be his sixth term as 
Mayor. Cr Stuart King was elected Deputy Mayor. 

Council to aid in sandbagging 

Depot staff worked alongside SES, CFA and  
ParksVic to lay sandbags to protect community  
Infrastructure. 

Council closing gender pay gap 

Swan Hill Rural City Council has welcomed a 
report published by Workplace Gender Equality 
Agency that showcases the municipality as the 
most economically lucrative place for women to 
work. 

Year at a glance continued... 

December 

Council Youth Officers recognised 

Swan Hill Rural City Council was delighted to 
learn that their very own Will Burns, Youth 
Support Officer had won the 2022 YACVic Rural 
Youth Award for ‘Young Person Leading 
Change’. We were proud to also have our own 
Jess Kei, Robinvale Youth Officer a finalist in the 
Awards. 

Home Energy Audit Toolkits now available  

Swan Hill Rural City Council, together with Lower 
Murray Water, have put together three Home 
Energy Audit Toolkits to help community 
members beat the rising cost of electricity and 
gas, and help lower household emissions. 

Two new buildings – on the way! 

Councillors resolved to investigate a funding 
variation to build two new buildings, rather than 
pursue the proposed Our Place project. 
Council was delighted to be commencing 
concepts for the Swan Hill Art Gallery 
redevelopment and the Swan Hill Tourism and 
Cultural Hub. 
 

One year of emissions reductions and cost 
savings through VECO 

Swan Hill Rural City Council is one of 51 
Victorian councils to have slashed their energy 
bills and reduced emissions through the Victorian 
Energy Collaboration (VECO), a joint renewable 
electricity contract. 
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January 

Congratulations to award recipients 

Swan Hill Rural City Council has awarded Sharon 
Denham 2023 Australia Day Citizen of the Year, 
Alannah Taylor 2023 Australia Day Young Citizen 
of the Year and the Nyah District Christmas 
Carnival the Community Event of the Year.  

Art Gallery Redevelopment - focus group 
sessions 

Swan Hill Rural City Council held focus group 
sessions to seek feedback from the community 
regarding the new Art Gallery redevelopment. 

New look for CBD parking meters  

Swan Hill Rural City Council parking meters in 
the Swan Hill CBD now allow for tap and go 
payments. 
 

Coffee with a Councillor – with a twist! 

Swan Hill Rural City Council’s, Coffee with a 
Councillor is back for 2023, only this year we also 
see the popular ‘Coldie with a Councillor’ return 
every second month. 
 
 
 
 

 

February 

Spoons Riverside new lessee 

Swan Hill Rural City Council is delighted by the 
official announcement that Spoons Riverside is to 
change hands—reopening the much-loved 
riverside restaurant. 
 

New chapter in 20 - year partnership with 
Belgravia Leisure 

Swan Hill Rural City Council has awarded 
Belgravia Leisure a Management and Operation 
of Leisure and Aquatic Services contract, building 
upon a partnership first created 20 years ago. 

 

Local libraries are calling on young people to 
get involved 

Swan Hill and Robinvale Libraries are seeking 
interest from young people to be part of a project 
in which they will co-design an activity or event 
with library staff. This is the chance to have their 
say and create a program that matters to young 
people in our region. 

 
Farewell to our beloved Gemma  

Council and Pioneer Settlement are saddened by 
the death of our much-loved resident Clydesdale 
horse, Gemma. 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 
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April 

Microchip your pet for free! 
Swan Hill Rural City Council gives residents the 
chance to microchip their pets for free in April, 
the program also included one year of free 
animal registration. 
 

Rocky, captivating hearts at Pioneer 
Settlement 

Swan Hill Rural City Council and Pioneer 
Settlement are delighted to introduce the newest 
addition to the Pioneer Settlement family, Rocky. 

Lighting up Swan Hill 

Swan Hill shined brightly with a spectacular light 
display arriving to town. ’Yana Waingi,’ meaning 
Walk in Lights, allowed participants to journey 
through a spectacle of light and sound at 
Riverside Park, Swan Hill. 
 

Recent Swan Hill riverfront events 
overflowing with success! 

Swan Hill seen its riverfront come to life with 
various events being held throughout March-
April. Thousands of visitors and locals embraced 
a range of different foods, culture’s and 
entertainment through diverse events held at 
both the Riverside Park and Pioneer Settlement. 
Events included Swan Hill Food and Wine 
Festival, RockWiz, Harmony Day and Yana 
Waingi – Walk in Lights.  

Year at a glance continued... 

March 

Swan Hill Town Hall exterior works 

Works commenced to repairs cracks and repaint 
the exterior of the Swan Hill Town Hall PACC.  

 

Tower Hill stage 14 release  

The much anticipated Stage 14 lots at Tower Hill 
open for registrations of interest, with the ballot 
system to soon follow. 
 

Swan Hill Harmony Day 

A smorgasbord of international food, singing and 
dancing came together on Saturday, 25 March at 
Riverside Park for the annual community 
celebration - Harmony Day. 

Robinvale Skatepark - Design Workshops 

Robinvale residents had their opportunity for 
input on a new skate park design through various 
drop in sessions.  
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June 

A diamond celebration for our queen of the 
Murray 

Council celebrates a momentous occasion in 
Pioneer Settlement's history - the Diamond 
Jubilee celebration, commemorating the arrival of 
the Paddle Steamer Gem. 

 

Making a splash in Robinvale 

Council released initial designs concepts for a 
proposed Splash Park in Robinvale. 

Advocating on issues that matter to our 
community 

Council participated in a Murray River Group of 
Council’s advocacy trip, to Parliament House in 
Canberra – advocating for the issues that matter 
to their community and region. 

May 

River viewing platform and Boardwalk 

Works commenced on our River Viewing 
Platform and Boardwalk on Monash Drive, Swan 
Hill. 

First Nation Community Advisory Committee 

Swan Hill Rural City Council calls on members of 
our First Nation Community to join an Advisory 
Committee and help shape the future of 
upcoming projects. 

 

Community and event grants open. 

Applications for both Swan Hill Rural City 
Council’s Community Development Fund and 
Event Support Fund open. 
 
Community groups and organisations can apply 
for up to $5,000 through our grants and 
contributions programs. 
 

Calling all community groups that involve 
local seniors 

Council seek to partner with local community 
groups to recognise local seniors, during the 
2023 Victorian Seniors Festival celebrations. 
 
 



Part two 
Year in review  
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Mayor and CEO message 
We are pleased to present the 2022/23 Annual 
Report to our community. In this document you 
will see our continued work on project and 
service delivery, advocacy and planning for the 
future. 

This Report provides a snapshot of Council’s 
performance, our achievements on behalf of 
the community, and areas for improvement. 

Our 2022/23 financial year has been a record 
year for project delivery – that we are proud of. 
To address significant housing shortages, we 
released additional lots at the Tower Hill 
development and accelerated land 
development in new residential estates. We 
have completed and sold four homes in stage 
one of the Ronald Street housing development. 
The installation of light projection has further 
enhanced and activated Pioneer Settlement 
and Leisure Centre expansions in Robinvale 
and Swan Hill commenced. An external 
refurbishment of the Swan Hill Town Hall has 
reinvigorated the popular venue, along with a 
new name for the café bar space and an 

extension of the licensed bar area. We 
completed the Catalina carpark upgrade, 
Robinvale Leisure Centre carpark upgrade, the 
McCallum Street shared footpath in Swan Hill, 
commenced the Nyah West toilet block 
renewal, and more. Economic development 
initiatives throughout the year have assisted our 
local business community and tourism providers 
to recover from ongoing impacts of recent 
flooding events and the pandemic. 

Several projects across our municipality have 
been delivered in partnership with the State and 
Federal government, while continuing our 
important advocacy efforts for essential 
infrastructure projects such as a new Swan Hill 
Bridge, a new Hospital, increased housing for 
our region and essential infrastructure. We have 
contributed to several inquiries this year 
including the Federal Senate Committee Inquiry 
into Bank Closures in Regional and Rural 
Australia, the Victorian State Parliamentary 
Inquiry into the 2022 Flood event and the State 
Legislative Council Inquiry into the Rental and 
Housing Affordability Crisis in Victoria. We were 
the only municipality to participate in the 
Federal Parliament Joint Standing Committee 
Inquiry into Migration Pathway to Nation 
Building. Our municipality remains a strong and 
active member of the Murray River Group of 
Councils advocating for improvements to water, 
energy, telecommunications, and infrastructure 
activities to benefit the Murray River region. 

We have successfully secured over $13 million 
new funds this year, to provide even more 
exciting new projects for our residents in the 
coming years. We look forward to working 
alongside our community as we bring them to 
life. 

THE YEAR IN REVIEW 

The role of Council includes: 
 Acting as a representative government by taking into account the diverse needs of the local community 

in decision making. 
 Providing leadership by establishing strategic objectives and monitoring their achievement. 
 Maintaining the viability of the Council by ensuring that resources are managed in a responsible and 

accountable manner. 
 Advocating the interests of the local community to other communities and governments. 
 Acting as a responsible partner in government by taking into account the needs of other communities. 
 Fostering community cohesion and encouraging active participation in civic life. 
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Plant and Fleet acquisition has been impacted by 
worldwide supply chain blockages and 
replacement of some plant items have had to be 
pushed back, by considerable margins. Parts 
supply has also been a big issue and setbacks like 
this impact our ability to provide acceptable 
service levels and compliance to Road 
Management Plans. Despite limitations our Roads 
and construction team has continued to produce 
positive outcomes for our network, including $2.9 
spent to reconstruct and reseal multiple roads 
within the municipality, this year. 

Recruitment continues to be an ongoing challenge 
for our organisation and our region, with a severe 
labour and skills shortage the number of vacancies 
experienced for our Council this financial year, has 
been at a record high. This is also impacted by 
significant housing and childcare shortages. 

ABS released the 2021 census data and whilst a 
growth was recorded for our municipality, our true 
population figures were not recognised. We will, 
along with other service providers in the area, 
continue to advocate for the Robinvale community 
with our data, at any chance we get. 

Thank you 

We would like to thank residents, community 

groups, businesses, and Council officers for 

continuing to work together towards our 

municipality’s successes in 2022/23. 

Cr Les McPhee Scott Barber 

Mayor Chief Executive Officer 

The annual community satisfaction survey 
has shown an improvement in customer 
satisfaction relating to community 
engagement. Our organisation has strived to 
ensure we are providing a high standard of 
community engagement and with the 
implementation of our Let’s Talk online 
engagement platform, we have seen almost 
10,000 residents contributing to various 
Council projects and initiatives. 

This year has also been met with some 
challenges. 

The high river event in 2022 created 
extensive damage within our municipality to 
road networks, other assets, and 
infrastructure, including residential and 
commercial property damage. We were 
fortunate that our operations and existing 
infrastructure, including the new Robinvale 
Levee Bank, were able to protect our towns 
from more extensive damage. 

Recovery efforts will continue for quite some 
time as we continue to repair roads and 
infrastructure and work with Government to 
ensure we have the funds to do so. 

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for: 
 Establishing and maintaining an appropriate organisational structure for Council.
 Ensuring that the decisions of the Council are implemented without undue delay.
 The day to day management of the Council's operations in accordance with the Council Plan.
 Developing, adopting and disseminating a code of conduct for Council staff.
 Providing timely advice to Council.
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Total revenue ($61.5 million) Total expenditure ($54.7 million) 

Expenditure 

Council’s total expenses for the 2022/23 year 
were $54.7 million as per the Comprehensive 
Income Statement. A breakdown of Council’s 
expenses highlights that 97 per cent relates to 
three expenditure categories. 

 Employee costs              37.6% 

 Materials and services    36.2% 

 Depreciation              23.2% 

THE YEAR IN REVIEW 

Financial Summary 
 

Operating position 

On a full accrual basis the surplus for the year was $6.8 million. It is important to note that this is an 
accounting profit after recognising non-cash items such as depreciation and amortisation of $12.68 
million and the receipt of infrastructure assets created by developers. This significant profit is due to 
the receipt of the Grants Commission funding allocation for the 2023/24 financial year in June 2023.  

Major revenue and expenditure items included in the operating result can be identified from the 
following graphs.  

For more information on the comprehensive income statement, balance sheet and cash flows for the 
year, please refer to the audited General Purpose Financial Report in Part Eight of this Annual Report. 

Revenue 

Council’s total revenue for 2022/23 was $61.5 
million as per the Comprehensive Income 
Statement. A breakdown of Council’s revenue 
sources highlights that 86.9 per cent of Council’s 
income comes from three income categories. 

 Rates and garbage charges   50.1% 

 Grants—operating   29.5% 

 User Fees       7.3% 
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Capital expenditure 

During the financial year, Council spent $15.1 million 
on capital works and asset purchases, bringing the 
five- year total of expenditure on fixed assets to 
almost $69 million. 

The graph at left shows the level of expenditure 
spent on new and redeveloped assets over the past 
five years. 

Major capital expenditure items were road networks, 
construction works at Tower Hill, sporting facilities, 
parks and open spaces. 

 
 
Borrowings  

Loans are used to fund major capital projects and 
asset purchases. Loan funding allows the 
community to pay for the asset (such as a leisure 
centre) over some of the time that it is being used. 
 
At 30 June 2023, Council had a loan liability of 
$2.35 million. This is a planned and responsible 
level of debt, achieved in accordance with Council’s 
borrowing strategy.  
 
During 2021/22 Council repaid an interest only loan 
of $4.8 million.  This loan was for a term of seven 
years, and each year Council had put aside funds 
in a reserve for the loan to be repaid in full at 
maturity.    
 
Loan repayments for the upcoming year are 
forecast to be $0.27 million. 

Equity 

The Balance Sheet shows total community equity of 

$665 million, represented by accumulated surplus 
and asset revaluation reserve. 

The increase in equity is due to the 
revaluation of Council’s property, road and 
infrastructure assets and a $6.8 million 
surplus in 2023. 

This graph shows the movement in equity over the 
past five years. 

Purchase and creation of assets 

New borrowings 

Loan balance at 30 June each year 

Loan repayments 

Total equity 
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Debt commitment ratio 

The debt commitment ratio identifies the 
percentage of rate revenue required to pay 
interest and principal on Council’s loans. 

Closely tied to the Borrowing Strategy, the ratio 
shows that Council is in a healthy position and 
that it decreased in 2022 due to the repayment 
of our $4.8 million interest only loan. Of the 
$2.62 million in loans, $0.5 million are interest 
only repayment loans. 

 
 

Working capital ratio 

Working capital ratio shows the level of current 
assets Council has available to meet its current 
liabilities. The graph shows that the ratio is 
healthy and has increased over the past four 
years due to increased levels of cash holdings. 

The ratio is expected to decrease marginally in 
future years. 

 

 

 
 

Revenue ratio 

The revenue ratio shows rate revenue as a 
proportion of total revenue and seeks to 
measure Council’s reliance on property rates. It 
is influenced by other revenue sources such as 
government grants, contributions, user fees and 
charges. This ratio increased in 2022 due to the 
reduced level of grants received. 

 

 

 

Debt servicing ratio 

The debt servicing ratio shows the amount of 
rates required to pay the interest on Council’s 
loan liability. This ratio documents that loan 
interest does not place a burden on finances. 

Financial indicators THE YEAR IN REVIEW 
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Description of operations 
Swan Hill Rural City Council plays a vital role in shaping the future prosperity, health and wellbeing of our 

municipality. Council aims to be progressive, dynamic and committed as we work towards this.  

Swan Hill Rural City Council delivers more than 100 services to our community.  

These range from waste and road management, to managing and improving open space and community 

buildings.  

We deliver services and facilities for children, young people, families and our elderly. We offer business 

development, town and strategic planning and community health initiatives. 

Council’s vision, strategic objectives and strategies to improve services and facilities are described in our 

Council Plan 2021-25 and the associated Budget. 

The progress of these strategies and their delivery against the Budget is reported in this Annual Report. Refer 

to the section on Our Performance for more information about delivery of Council services.  

The delivery of core services and facilities are measured by a set of Service Performance Indicators, as you 

will see in this report. We also track progress on the Initiatives set out in our Council Plan.  

Council has a wide range of responsibilities under both Victorian and Commonwealth legislations.  
 

Economic factors 

Council delivered its seventh budget under the ‘Fair Go’ rates system. Council’s rates increase was  aligned 

with the rate cap set at 1.75%. 
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Services provided 
Council receives funding from a number of sources and had a budgeted income of over $62.1 

million in 2022/23. Below is a breakdown of the services Council delivered and what these 

cost, for every $100 of expenditure.  

 

$13 Recreation and Community Facilities 

Halls, parks, reserves, pools, playgrounds, sporting facilities and street  

beautification. 

$16 Transport Services 

Maintaining over 3,650km of roads, footpaths, signs, street cleaning, tree  

maintenance and the aerodrome. 

$11 Governance and Administration 

Municipal offices in Swan Hill and Robinvale, Councillor support, Council depots 

and plant equipment.  

$4 Community Care 

Domestic assistance and property maintenance for our seniors. 

$10 Environmental and Waste Management 

Recycling services, garbage collection, landfills, drainage and environmental 

management. 

$4 Cultural Services 

Performing Arts, Libraries, Art Gallery and Indigenous Affairs. 

$3 Family, Youth and Children’s Services 

Services and support for families, children and youth. 

$5 Pioneer Settlement 
Managing, marketing, maintaining and developing this premium tourist attraction, 

including Heartbeat of the Murray Laser Light Show. 

$18 Economic Development and Marketing Services  

Business development and investment, marketing of the region and leases of 

caravan parks. 

$7 Public Health, Safety and Regulatory Compliance  

Animal control and registrations, parking, immunisations, emergency  

management, lighting and community health. 

$9 Other 

Livestock Exchange, property acquisitions and disposal, commercial works, 

planning and building services, Tower Hill residential development. 

THE YEAR IN REVIEW 
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Major capital works 

During 2022/23 the major capital works included: 

 

Monash Drive Upgrade 

Major upgrades were made to Monash Drive in 
Swan Hill in the 21/22 and 2022/23 financial years 
including additional car parking, landscaping, 
footpaths, road reseal and connection of Riverside 
Park and Pioneer Settlement. 

Actual spend 2022/23: $693k 

Total project cost: $1.149M 

 

Swan Hill Aerodrome 

Lighting and Runway 2022/23: $751k 

Refurbishment of Terminal Building 2022/23: $138k 

Total project cost: $889k 

New Soccer Pavillion -  

Ken Harrison Sporting Complex 

Actual spend 2022/23: $549k 

Total project cost: $1.46M 

 

McCallum Street Footpath 

Actual spend 2022/23: $527k 

Total project cost: $888k 
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Road reconstruction, sealing and maintenance 

Actual spend 2022/23: $2.9 million 

Multiple roads around the municipality were 
reconstructed and/or resealed during 2022/23. 

 

Ronald Street Sub-division 

Actual spend 2022/23: $530k 

Total project cost: $1.75M 

 

 

Activation of lighting and digital content - 
Pioneer Settlement 

Actual spend 2022/23: $440k 

Total project cost: $613k 

 

Swan Hill Leisure Centre Pool  

Equipment Renewal 

Actual spend 2022/23: $343k 

Total project cost: $368k 

Tower Hill - Stage 14 Development 

Actual spend 2022/23: $337k 

Total project cost: $1.58M 

 

Catalina Carpark Upgrade 

Actual spend 2022/23: $267k 

Total project cost: $493k 

 

Robinvale Leisure Centre Carpark 

Actual spend 2022/23: $229k 

Total project cost: $254k 

 

Library Collection Book Purchases 

Actual spend 2022/23: $151k 

 

THE YEAR IN REVIEW 
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Advocacy campaigns  
Swan Hill Rural City Council regularly advocates to the Victorian and Federal governments for funding for 

important programs and projects that will benefit our community and the broader region. 

Swan Hill Bridge 

Efficient road and rail freight is essential to our $1.2 

billion agriculture and manufacturing sectors. Access 

to safe transport is also essential for our people to 

access the services and social activities they need - 

many of which are unavailable locally.  

The aging single-lane Swan Hill bridge creates a 

bottleneck for traffic moving through our region, is 

costing millions in ongoing repairs, and is simply 

unusable for the higher mass and over dimensional 

vehicles that local and interstate industry relies on.  

In 2019 the Federal Government committed $60 

million towards a new bridge - this is now, 

unfortunately, under review. We need all levels of 

government to continue working together to complete 

designs, and for Federal and State governments to 

commit funding.  

 

Water and sewerage for small towns 

Poor water and wastewater infrastructure is one 

element restricting housing development in our small 

towns, in areas where our agriculture, horticulture 

and manufacturing sectors need housing the most. 

The northern end of Nyah and the townships of 

Boundary Bend and Wood Wood have no potable 

water supply. Businesses and homes rely on 

rainwater and trucking water in during dry times. 

Sewage treatment is also needed for towns, 

especially in the prime horticultural area of Woorinen 

South, the township of Piangil and residential areas 

around Lake Boga. 

Extending water and sewer networks is cost 

prohibitive for water authorities and private 

landowners. 

Investment is needed to introduce a fund that water 

authorities can access to extend water and 

wastewater systems to small towns and ease our 

critical housing shortage. 
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Improved housing availability  

A lack of suitable, affordable housing is a 

significant barrier to economic growth across our 

municipality. Workers in all sectors have trouble 

finding housing when re-locating to our area. This 

is especially problematic for the seasonal 

workforce that our horticulture sector relies on. 

Council’s Robinvale Housing Strategy is guiding 

us with some solutions. The Robinvale Worker 

Housing Project has constructed and sold four of 

eight new dwellings in Robinvale, while the 

Seasonal Worker Accommodation Study is 

reviewing compliance and incentives for more on-

farm accommodation for seasonal workers. 

It is widely agreed that solving housing shortages 

needs a multi-level government approach. 

 

 

A new Swan Hill Hospital 

Swan Hill District Health services a catchment of 

35,000 people. Much of the hospital’s key 

infrastructure is old, not fit for purpose and in need 

of redevelopment.  

The Swan Hill Needs a New Hospital Committee 

and Council have been advocating for a new 

hospital. The Federal Government’s $30 million 

commitment, has acted as seed funding for Stage 

1 of the new hospital.  

Council will continue advocating the State 

Government to build the new Swan Hill Hospital in 

its entirety; and provide future seed funding to 

support further stages and to prompt the State 

Government to commit to Stages 2, 3 and 4.  

A true population 

The ABS’s data for Swan Hill Rural City Council 

inaccurately represents the number of residents 

who actually call our region home.  

The Council-commissioned 2019 Robinvale 

Population Determination Study showed that 

Robinvale’s population is between 7,000 and 

8,800, much higher than the official Census data 

of 3,200. It is expected this discrepancy in 

population is similar for other parts of the 

municipality.  

Council asked the Government to ensure 

Robinvale is being correctly serviced and has 

facilities commensurate with the population from 

the 2019 study. In addition provide financial 

support to further investigate municipal wide 

population through a study, estimated to cost 

$80,000. And introduce a new and more modern 

way to collect Census data, to cater to an 

increasingly diverse Australian population.  

THE YEAR IN REVIEW 

Assist overseas workers 

The demand for overseas professional, skilled, 

and semi-skilled workers, is higher than ever. The 

pandemic exacerbated workforce gaps that 

existed in our region beforehand, placing 

extraordinary pressure on local industry – 

including agriculture, horticulture, tourism, 

hospitality, and healthcare. 

Council welcomes the recent announcements 

regarding new immigration labour agreements, but 

further support is needed. 

 

Fix our roads 

Recent flooding events and an extraordinarily wet 

season had a significant impact on our local roads 

as well as our state road networks.  

Council is grateful that the Roads to Recovery 

program has injected essential funding into our 

ageing road network, and we encourage Federal 

Government to continue it. 
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Australia Day  

Local Government Awards  

Citizen of the Year - Sharon Denham 
Sharon Denham was awarded the Australia Day Citizen of the Year for 2023 in 
recognition for her long and valued commitment to basketball and player 
development in our community. 

Sharon has volunteered extensively for Swan Hill Basketball Association and had 
held most positions on the committee. She is recognised as an excellent coach 
and a champion of the sport by her peers. 

Sharon’s off court work spans over 27 years and she has been recognised both 
state wide and nationally for her tireless work to ensure that everyone can have 
access to the game. 

Sharon has been a trailblazer for female coaches and has been a mentor for 
young female coaches. Her experience and knowledge has seen her win the 
Basketball Victoria Country Female Coach of the Year award, on five separate 
occasions. She is identified as one of the best female coaches in Victoria. 

Sharon has coached in various Basketball Victoria Country programs, from under 
twelves and under fourteen Country wide skills days, through to the under 
fourteen BVC Regional Academy, as a head coach. She has coached and 
volunteered at the BVC Jamboree from its inception in Swan Hill in 1995 to the 
many events across Regional Victoria that followed. 

She coached Victoria Country Development teams at the prestigious Australian 
Country Junior Basketball Cup (ACJBC) and was also successful head coach of 
the Victorian Country State teams at the National Championships. 

Sharon was part of the Victorian Country 2017 National Championship winning 
under eighteen girls team at the assistant coach and won the 2017 ACJBC Gold 
Medal as the Head Coach of the Victorian Country under eighteen girls. 

This has all been whilst Sharon has been contributing to her local association and 
players. 

Sharon is an outstanding advocate for basketball in our community and is a 

worthy recipient of the 2023 Australia Day Citizen of the Year Award. 

Young Citizen of the Year - Alannah Taylor 
Alannah Taylor was awarded Australia Day Young Citizen of the Year for 2023 in 

recognition for her outstanding contribution to her local community. 

Alannah has broadly demonstrated a passion for her community and beyond by 

participating as a volunteer in a number of charitable and community events. Her 

commitment at times spanning over five years, a significant amount of time for 

someone of her age. 

Alannah has diverse experience including supporting not-for-profit charitable 

events, sporting events as both a participant and helper, as well as participating in 

the Rural Ambassador program in 2021. 

She is a remarkable sporting all-rounder having been involved as a club member 

and participant in football, netball, tennis and basketball throughout the year. 

Alannah is a respectful and a well-liked member of the community and has 

developed good rapport and relationships with others. She was School Captain at 

Manangatang P-12 College and supported other students through her role on the 

student leadership team. She was the recipient of Ampol All Rounder award in 

2022. 

Alannah is a worthy recipient of the 2023 Australia Day Young Citizen of the Year 

Award. 
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Student Achievement award winners 

Samantha Mullan    St Mary MacKillop College 

Jack Duncan     Swan Hill College 

Jordan Baker     Swan Hill Specialist School 

Isabeau Fitzpatrick    Swan Hill Primary School 

Ruby Eastwood     Swan Hill North Primary School 

Xavier Morpeth     Woorinen District Primary School 

Audrey Williams     Lake Boga Primary School 

Tess Foley      Nyah District Primary School 

Alannah Taylor     Manangatang P-12 College 

Ellena Panagiotopoulos   Robinvale St Mary’s Primary School 

Kira Leslie      Robinvale P-12 College 

THE YEAR IN REVIEW 

Community Event of the Year -  

Nyah District Christmas Carnival 
The Nyah District Christmas Carnival was awarded the Australia 

Day Community Event of the Year for 2023. 

The family-friendly carnival is the major annual community 

gathering for people in the Nyah District, including the communities 

of Nyah, Nyah West, Koraleigh, Vinifera and Wood Wood. 

The 2021 carnival was held on 3 December at the Nyah 

Recreation Reserve, with over 1000 people attending the COVID 

safe event. Following the event’s cancellation in 2020 due to Covid

-19 restrictions, the event brought the community together for the 

first time in over 12 months, providing a safe and enjoyable 

evening. It included live music, children’s rides and activities, 

cultural display, market stalls, food stalls and an impressive 

fireworks display. 

The annual carnival provides a positive focus for community 

members, helping to improve wellbeing. The evening gave local 

groups and organisations an opportunity to raise funds and 

connect with the community, once again. 

A committee of 12 people and 5 local organisations put the 

Christmas carnival together each year, they have fantastic support 

from community members and sponsors. 

The evening provided a family friendly event that brought cheer to 

all that attended. 
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$3.004b 

Annual  

economic output 

2633 

Number of local 

businesses 

9,462 

Local jobs 

478,000 

Total visitors 

$331.3M 

Agriculture, 

forestry and 

fishing 

$107.7M 

Health care and 

social assistance 

$105.3M 

Manufacturing 

 

$97.9M 

Construction 

 

Our Region 

The Swan Hill municipality covers 6,116 square kilometers that over 40 nationalities call home, creating a 
community that is diverse, welcoming and resilient. Our region has experienced significant economic growth over 
the past decade, led by the expansion of horticultural/agricultural practices and supported by an innovative 
manufacturing sector. With more than 40 commercially grown products including almonds, olives, stone fruit, 
grapes, vegetables, cereals, legumes, lucerne, sheep, beef and dairy – it is easy to see why our municipality is an 
important part of Victoria’s food bowl. 

The beautiful Murray River winds its way through much of the municipality, offering a major draw card for visitors 
and those who call the region home. 

*2021 ABS data estimates the Swan Hill Rural Council residential population to be 21,403, however, due to ongoing concern that 
the ABS consistently underestimates the population of Robinvale, Council commissioned Geografia to undertake a population 
determination study. The ABS census figure of 2016 show the Robinvale population as 3,497 people. The work of Geografia has 
reliably demonstrated that the true Robinvale population sits at approximately 7,900 people; making the total residential 
population 25,806. 

21,403* 

Total Population 

 

Top Four Gross Regional Product by Industry 

OUR COUNCIL 
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Our history  
For thousands of years, the traditional owners of the lands that now form the Swan Hill Rural City Council 
lived in the region, with the land providing abundant food sources and a permanent water supply.  

 

In 1836, led by explorer Major Thomas Mitchell, the first Europeans arrived. Settlers started to arrive soon 
after, establishing large sheep stations next to the Murray River.  

 

In 1871, the Shire of Swan Hill was proclaimed and was located in Kerang (which now forms part of the 
Gannawarra Shire).   

 

In 1890, part of the Shire of Swan Hill was severed and formed the Mildura Shire, now called the Mildura 
Rural City Council.  

 

In 1893, the Shire of Castle Donnington was created and centred around the town of Swan Hill. By 1904 it 
had assumed the name Shire of Swan Hill.  

 

Returned servicemen settled in the Tol Tol and Robinvale areas circa 1923 and established farms, 
persevering through the Depression and providing a solid foundation for the prosperous farming 
community centred there today.    

 

The Borough of Swan Hill was formed in 1939 and in March 1965 became the City of Swan Hill. 
Throughout the 1960s and 1970s, the City of Swan Hill was considered one of the largest wheat-
producing municipalities in Victoria. Whilst broadacre farms are still found in abundance in our region, 
many farmers have since transitioned away from dryland farming to grow grapes, citrus, olives, carrots, 
asparagus, stonefruit and a wide range of other crops.  
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Councillors 

The Council is elected to provide leadership and good governance for the municipal district and the 
local community.  

Swan Hill Rural City Council is not divided into Wards, with seven Councillors elected as 
representatives for all residents and ratepayers across the municipality.  

They have responsibility for setting the strategic direction for the municipality, policy development, 
identifying service standards and monitoring performance across the organisation.  

OUR COUNCIL 

Cr Bill Moar  

Deputy Mayor 

Elected 2016  

(M) 0429 496 194  

 

Councillor Bill Moar was elected to Council in 2016. He was elected Mayor in 
November 2019 and re-elected in November 2020. 

Bill was born and raised in Swan Hill and has had a varied career, predominately in 
farming but also extending to aged care nursing and sports. 

A proud father of six and grandfather of ten, Bill spent 25 years at Goschen as a dry 
land farmer, as well as being involved with his parents’ irrigation farm just over the 
border in New South Wales - where he currently farms sheep and cereals. 

Bill has held over the years a number of voluntary positions in the agricultural sector, 

within sporting and community groups and within the CFA.  

He is passionate about the place he calls ‘home’ and continues to advocate for the 
future of this community that he loves. 

Cr Moar was Acting Mayor from July 2022 to November 2022. 

Cr Les McPhee 

Mayor 

Elected 2008  

(M) 0427 319 394  

Cr McPhee was first elected to Swan Hill Rural City Council in 2008. He was born in 
Melbourne and moved to Swan Hill in 1987 with his wife and two children.  

He was a member of Victoria Police for 36 years and held the position of Sergeant in 
Charge of the Swan Hill Highway Patrol. Cr McPhee retired in  February 2022. 

Since moving to Swan Hill, Les has been a member of numerous community 
organisations and is currently a meals on wheels volunteer. 

Les has a passion for ensuring that Swan Hill Rural City Council remains a great place 

to live, work and visit. 

Councillor McPhee was re-elected as Mayor in November 2023. 

Cr Stuart King 

Deputy Mayor 

Elected 2020 

(M) 0437 967 531 

Cr King was born and raised within the municipality and elected to Council in 2020. He 
is a former farmer, qualified engineer and project manager, a current commercial 
business owner and football umpire. Stuart is married to Angela and between them 
they have 9 children and 2 grandchildren. 

Stuart is passionate about this community. He was motivated to seek election to 
Council to fulfil an obligation to deliver basic services to ratepayers and to create an 
environment that stimulates existing businesses.  His goal is to attract new investment 
to the municipality from higher tiers of Government and the private sector to provide 
better infrastructure, improved services, and a place where people want to live, work 
and play. 

Cr King was elected Deputy Mayor in November 2022. 
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Cr Jade Benham 

Cr Benham took a leave of absence from her role as Mayor in July 2022 to pursue a career in politics. 
She formally resigned in December 2022. 

Cr Chris Jeffery  

Elected 2016  

(M) 0429 447 802  

Cr Jeffery was elected to Council in 2016, with an aim to give younger representation, 
views and direction that benefits the municipality now and into the future.  

He was born and raised in Swan Hill and has lived in Swan Hill for most of his life with 
his wife and two young children. Chris works for CFA in corporate administration. 

Chris is passionate about seeing our towns continue to grow through improved sporting 
facilities, expansion of existing businesses and seeing new business investment in the 
area, while ensuring good planning outcomes and a high standard of community 
services. 

Cr Nicole McKay 

Elected 2019 

(M) 0436 299 842 

Cr McKay grew up in a family business at Nyah, forging connections with many sectors 
including: natural resources management, small business, community services, with 
family involved in agriculture of all types. Nicole was elected in April 2019 after a  by-
election was held. 

She studied nursing and worked in Jacaranda Lodge at Nyah before relocating to 
Melbourne to complete Midwifery at Monash Medical Centre. She worked there for five 
years and has worked in Midwifery and Community Health in Swan Hill for the past 12 
years. She sees excellent health services as essential for the region.  

Nicole believes that multiculturalism is the building block of our vibrant community and 
economy. She sees Aboriginal culture and communities as important and central to the 
region, and hopes we can grow stronger together.  

Cr Ann Young  

Elected 2016  

(M) 0409 503 711  

Cr. Young has always lived around Swan Hill and Woorinen areas. Her family have 
been involved in growing packing and marketing stone-fruit to Australian and overseas 
markets. 

Ann has studied remotely for many years and has qualifications including accounting, 
horticulture, management, training, business along with others. She has owned two 
Registered Training Organisations with scope for delivery to both local and 
international students. Ann has also delivered services for both drought and business 
support programs for farmers as well as Food Safety, Chemical, Business Planning 
which often involved serving on local, state and federal boards and committees. 

Ann served as Mayor in 18/2019 and has always had a passion for Swan Hill Rural City 
region to grow and develop both economically and socially for the benefit of all 
community members. 

Cr Jacquie Kelly 

Elected 2023  

(M) 0436 804 012  

Cr Kelly was elected to Council in January 2023 and is serving her second term as a 
Councillor. She previously served as a Lakes Ward Councillor from 1999 to 2003. She 
has three children between the ages of 21 and 32, is a business owner and volunteers in 
local environment groups.  

Cr Kelly has a strong sense of community, having grown up in Swan Hill and chosen to 
return here to live and work. She is passionate about improving community engagement 
at Council level as she wants to ensure people feel connected and have the opportunity 
to have their say in decisions that affect the community.  

Cr Kelly is an advocate of responsible budgets and robust strategic and corporate 
planning. She recognises the importance of sustainable economic and environmental 
decision making that enhances the long term liveability of the region. 

Cr Kelly has a Bachelor of Applied Science- Chiro. From RMIT University. 
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Community Satisfaction Survey 

Each year, Local Government Victoria 
coordinates a state-wide local government 
community satisfaction survey. The survey 
measures the community’s perceptions of their 
local council’s performance in key areas. 
 
During February and March 2023, a total of 400 
residents from across the municipality provided 
their feedback via a telephone survey. 
 

Overall performance 
The overall performance index score of 50 for 
Council represents a decrease on the 2022 
result.  Although this overall performance  
decrease is not significant, it represents the 
continuation of decline since the most recent 
peak of 56 in 2021. 

Top performing areas 

Council’s three highest performing services are: 

 Appearance of public areas 

 Waste Management 

 Customer Service 

 

Areas for improvement 

Council’s three poorest performing services are: 

 Unsealed roads 

 Planning & building permits 

 Elderly support services 

 

50 

for overall performance 

State average - 56 

Large rural council - 52 

 

43 

for overall Council direction 

State average - 46 

Large rural council - 44 

 

45 

for making community 
decisions 

State average - 51 

Large rural council - 48 

 

63 
for customer service 

State average - 67 

Large rural council - 65 

 

 

50 

for community consultation 

State average - 52 

Large rural council - 49 

Full survey results are available on Council’s website - www.swanhill.vic.gov.au 

44 

for sealed local roads 

State average - 48 

Large rural council - 40 

OUR COUNCIL 
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OUR PEOPLE 

Executive Leadership Team 

Council is the governing body that appoints a Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The CEO is responsible 
for the day-to-day management of operations, in accordance with the strategic directions of the 
Council Plan. Four Directors and the CEO form the Executive Leadership Team (ELT) and lead the 
organisation.  

Heather Green - Director Development and 
Planning  

Heather started as Council’s Director Development and 
Planning in July 2017. She has extensive local and state 
government experience across Australia. During her nine 
years as a manager and director at Victoria’s Alpine Shire 
Council, she focused on sustainable development, planning, 
tourism and economic development. Heather was at 
Toowoomba for 15 years as the Manager of Strategic 
Planning. And during her time working for the Northern 
Territory Government as the Katherine Land Manager, she 
oversaw planning, Crown leases and grazing licences. 

Bruce Myers - Director Community and Cultural 
Services  

Bruce is a qualified librarian who started his career at the 
Swan Hill Regional Library, managing the mobile library, in 
1994. From 1998 until 2007 Bruce was Manager of the 
Library. Bruce became the Director Community and Cultural 
Services in 2007. He now heads a team of about 90 people 
involved with a wide range of community services, including 
community-based aged care, children’s and youth services 
and cultural experiences.  
 

Scott Barber - Chief Executive Officer  

Scott Barber is a results-driven Executive with more than two 
decades experience developing and leading high performing 
teams within Local Government, utilities and services sectors, as 
well as governance roles within the private and public sectors.  
Scott has an in-depth understanding of the challenges and 
opportunities facing regional communities, with experience 
spanning local government, irrigated agriculture, bulk water 
management, infrastructure operations and financial leadership.  

Scott has held Executive roles at Goulburn-Murray Water, Murray 
River Council and most recently Director of Projects & Strategy at 
Wagga Wagga City Council.  He has completed a Master of 
Applied Science, Bachelor of Engineering, Graduate Certificate in 
Management and is a Graduate of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.  
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John McLinden—Acting Director Infrastructure  

John joined Council as its Chief Executive Officer in March 2016. He 
was previously the Chief Executive Officer of Loddon Shire Council, a 
position he held since 2005. John, who has a wealth of experience in 
local government, was previously the Director Operations (and 
formerly Director Technical Services) at Loddon Shire Council since 
local government amalgamations in 1995. A qualified engineer, he 
has also held engineering positions at the Shire of Rosedale, City of 
Broadmeadows and the Shire of Colac.  
 
John ended his role as CEO in November 2021 and returned for the 
Acting role from December 2022 to March 2023. 

OUR PEOPLE 

Svetla Petkova - Director Infrastructure  

Svetla began as Director Infrastructure at Council in December 2017. 
Svetla is a qualified engineer with a Bachelor of Engineering, a 
Masters in Engineering, and a PhD in Fluid Mechanics. Before 
joining Council, Svetla spent more than a decade working in asset 
management and project delivery in the Victorian water industry, and 
enterprise asset management within local government in 
Queensland. As Director Infrastructure, she oversees infrastructure 
projects and services, manages Council’s environmental and natural 
resource programs, and manages and maintains Council assets.  
 
Svetla ended her role with Council in December 2022. 

Bhan Pratap - Director Corporate Services 

Bhan has 21 years of dedicated service to Local Government in 
Queensland, Northern Territory and Victoria, working within several 
regional and outback councils in a variety of positions. Bhan has worked 
in senior Executive positions, as CEO, Deputy CEO, Director of 
Corporate and Financial Services, and Chief Financial Officer. In addition 
to this, he is a Fellow of CPA Australia (FCPA) and has following 
qualifications: Bachelor of Arts with majors in Accounting & Financial 
Management and Management & Public Administration, Graduate 
Diploma in Management  and a Master of Business Administration (MBA) 
with majors in Local Government, Human Resources & Associations 
Management.   

Leah Johnston - Director Infrastructure 

Leah commenced her role as Director of Infrastructure with Council 
in April 2023.  Leah is a qualified engineer, and recognised on the 
National Engineering Register.  She also has an Advanced Diploma 
in Project Management, and Diploma in Emergency Management. 
She has had a long career in local government, having worked within 
the engineering and works departments from a range of Councils in 
South West Victoria over the last 25 years, before relocating to Swan 
Hill. 
 
As the Director of Infrastructure, her role incorporates engineering, 
asset management, road construction and road maintenance, parks 
and gardens, waste and the airport. 
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Chief Executive Officer 

Scott Barber 

Director Infrastructure 

Svetla Petkova/ John 

McLinden (Acting)/

Leah Johnston 

Director Development 

and Planning 

Heather Green 

Director Community 

and Cultural Services 

Bruce Myers 

Director Corporate 

Services 

Bhan Pratap 

Finance Manager 

Ash Free 

Family, Youth and 

Children’s Services 

Manager 

Jan McEwan 

Development Manager 

Kate Jewell  

Operations Manager 

Domonic Johnston 

Pioneer Settlement 

General Manager 

Jessica Warburton 

Libraries Manager 

Camille Cullinan 

Organisational 

Development Manager 

Helen Morris 

Information and 

Technology Manager 

Warren Taylor 

Economic and 

Community 

Development Manager 

Dennis Hovenden 

Engineering and 

Strategic Projects 

Manager 

Peter Ross 

Enterprise Assets 

Manager 

Laura O’Dwyer 

Art Gallery Director 

Ian Tully 

Performing Arts and 

Venue Manager 

Simon Myers 

OUR PEOPLE 

Project Management 

Office Manager 

Azam Suleman

(Acting)  
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Number of staff (FTE) 

Council employees 

A summary of the number of full time equivalent (FTE) Council staff by organisational structure, 
employment type and gender as at 30 June 2023 is set out below.  

Directorate 
Male 
full-
time 

Female 
full- 
time 

Male    
part- 
time 

Female 
part-
time 

Casual 
Total 
Staff 

Male total  
FTE  

Female 
total FTE 

FTE  
total 

Corporate 
Services 

11.0  20.0  - 12.0  1.0  44.0  11.0  28.1  39.1  

Community 
and Cultural 
Services 

7.0  14.0  2.0  49.0  21.0  93.0  8.4  42.70  51.1  

Development 
and Planning 

14.0  16.0  6.0  23.0  11.0  70.0  17.0  26.6 43.6 

Infrastructure 59 9.0 1.0 2.0  - 71.10 59.8 10.6 70.5 

Executive 3.0 3.0 -  2.0 -  8.0 3.0 3.7 6.7  

Total 94.0 62.0 9.0 88.0 33.0 286.0 99.3 111.7 211.0 

0

10
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30

40
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Corporate Services Community and

Cultural Services
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A summary of the number of full time equivalent (FTE) staff categorised by employment classification 
and gender as at 30 June 2023 is set out below.  
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Employment Classification Male FTE  Female FTE  Total FTE  
Self-
described 
gender FTE  

Band 1              -    2.6 2.6 - 

Band 2 0.9 1.1 2.0 - 

Band 3 45.7 23.6 69.4 - 

Band 4 8.8 26.6 35.4 - 

Band 5 9.0 18.2 27.2 - 

Band 6 8.8 11.0 19.9 - 

Band 7 9.0 6.0            15.0  - 

Band 8              -    3.2 3.2 - 

Non-banded positions (includes 
salary packages) 

         17.0  19.4 36.4 - 

Total 99.3 111.7          211.0  0.0 

 -

 10.0

 20.0

 30.0

 40.0

 50.0

 60.0

 70.0

 80.0

Band 1 Band 2 Band 3 Band 4 Band 5 Band 6 Band 7 Band 8 Non-banded
positions

Male EFT Female EFT Self-described gender FTE
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Valuing our people   

At Swan Hill Rural City Council, we recognise the 
importance that each individual plays in achieving our 
goals.  Our aim is to ensure that Council is a great 
place to work, where capability of our people is 
nurtured and performance is focused on delivering 
exceptional service for our communities. 
 
Council is committed to recruiting and retaining staff, 
but recognises ongoing challenges in today’s climate 
including: skill shortages, pay condition, an ageing 
workforce and staff turnover. To address the 
challenges Council is implementing a number of 
strategies to keep valuable staff, expand Councils 
potential employee base and promote as an employer 
of choice.  Local Governments are significant 
employers within communities and require a diverse 
workforce that encompasses a wide range of 
occupations. 
 
Council staff strategies include: 

 A focus on enhancing the skills of staff to 
increase efficiency. 

 Implementation of the Workforce Plan including; 
o Succession planning 

o Recruitment and retention of staff 

o Apprenticeships, traineeships and/or  
 bursaries 

 Offering phased retirement options to extend the 
careers of higher skilled staff. 

 Ongoing development of systems and processes 
to continually improve productivity 

 Flexible work arrangements. 

Swan Hill Rural City Council delivers substantial levels 
of government services, including community, social, 
health, physical, regulatory and environmental 
services, amongst others. Council also drives and 
develops considerable economic activity, supporting 
significant employment across the municipality. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Volunteers 

Council is fortunate to have numerous local volunteers 
who give their time and expertise to assist Council and 
help others in the community.  These dedicated 
volunteers play an essential role in delivery valuable 
services and support. 

 

Professional development  
Council is committed to providing learning and 
development opportunities to support the continuing 
professional development of our staff. 
  
This year staff have accessed a range of learning and 
development opportunities including on-the-job training 
and coaching; attendance at courses, workshops, 
seminars, conferences, webinars, and meetings; and 
participation in professional networks. More than 3740 
hours of organisational training was provided to staff 
during the year, or 17 hours per EFT. Council also 
offers study assistance for staff undertaking relevant 
undergraduate or postgraduate studies. 
 
 

Online training  

Council continued to offer an expanded suite of 
compliance courses through e3Learning - an online 
learning program.  

All internal courses are developed with industry 
experts and the courses are delivered in an engaging 
and easy to use format.  

Courses are designed in line with relevant legislation, 
are fully customisable and are suitable for Council.  

The system also allows both administrators and end 
users to record attendance and completion of in-
person training (accredited and non-accredited). 

 

Scholarship Program  

Council’s Scholarship Program supports up to seven 
local students who are completing undergraduate or 
TAFE studies during the school year. In addition to 
financial support, students receive valuable on-the-job 
experience by working at Council during semester 
breaks.  

Students participating in the program are:  

 Amy Cadd, Graduate Diploma in Child, Family 
and Community Nursing 

 Claudia Free, Bachelor of Design (Architecture) 
and Bachelor of Construction Management 
(Honours) 

Fast Facts 
 

More than 3740 hours  
of organisational  training was 

provided during 2022/23. 
 

That equates to over 17 hours 
of training per EFT employee. 

 
Over 200 online e3Learning 

courses are available to 
Council employees 
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Other staff matters 

Equal Employment Opportunity Program 

Council is dedicated to providing a workplace where 
diversity is embraced and decisions are merit-based. 
This includes ensuring fair, equitable and non-
discriminatory consideration being given to all job 
applicants, regardless of age, sex, disability, marital 
status, pregnancy, sexual orientation, race, religious 
beliefs or other irrelevant factors.  

All staff undertake mandatory equal opportunity 
training every three years and our Equal Employment 
Opportunity Policy and Procedure supports our 
organisation in fulfilling its obligations under the Equal 
Opportunity Act 2010. In 2022/23, 104 employees 
undertook Equal opportunity training, as well as 127 
employees successfully completing Culture at Work 
training.  

Council offers bullying and harassment and secual 
harassment courses with over 256 staff completing 
these programs.  

We have six equal opportunity contact officers 
available to provide guidance and assistance. 

 

Gender Equality Act 2020 

The Gender Equality Act 2020 commenced on 31 
March 2021. The Act will improve workplace gender 
equality in the Victorian public sector, universities and 
local councils. Our Council is committed to this work. 

A Gender Equality Committee from volunteers within 
Council forms part of this work. This active committee 
is focused on compliance obligations in line with the 
Gender Equality Legislation. The committee provide 
gender-based recommendations and advice to the 
Council and Executive Leadership Team.  

The Council Gender Equality Action Plan is currently 
in the second part of it’s 4 year period and has been 
an important document for improvements in 
increasing gender equality within Council. 

The Gender Impact Assessment requirement of the  
Gender Equality legislation is being embedded into 
the policies, programs and services of Council to 
benefit all genders. 

Understanding the prevalence of sexual harassment 
in a workplace and taking proactive steps to stop 
sexual harassment occurring, rather than only 
respond after it occurs is a key step in effectively 
eliminating it.  

In Victoria, employers have a positive duty to prevent 
and eliminate sexual harassment in their workplaces 
under the Equal Opportunity Act 2010. 
 

 
People Matters Survey 

This is an independent opinion survey conducted by 
the Victorian Public Sector Commission that enables 
employees from Councils across Victoria to have their 
say. The survey responses remain anonymous and 
confidential to create and safe space to express their 
opinions on their workplace culture and environment. 
It is designed to evaluate morale, engagement, 
achievement and overall employee satisfaction. 

 

Preventing violence against women 

Council is actively working towards Prevention of 
Violence Against Women primarily through promoting 
gender equity and building respectful and safe 
relationships and breaking down stereotypes of 
women. This prevention approach is consistent with 
Council’s health and wellbeing planning approach, 
which is incorporated into the Council Plan.  

Council’s partnership with Women’s Health Loddon 
Mallee through the Collective Action for Respect and 
Equality (CARE), is leading to further access training 
for staff and various actions within the Gender 
Equality Action Plan continue to be addressed. 

Council also supported the local Prevention of 
Violence initiative in late 2022, with a well attended 
street walk in orange to the area behind the clock 
tower in Swan Hill.   There is also an active Gender 
Equality Network with agencies from across the LGA, 
who support events for the 16 Days of Activism 
events.  
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Staff Recognition Awards 

Harmony Strategic Pillar Winner and overall winner: Jacinta Chaplin, Aboriginal Community 
Development Officer (pictured) 

Liveability Strategic Pillar Winner: Maternal Child Health Team 

Prosperity Strategic Pillar Winner: Cynthia Hewitt, Team Member Regional Livestock Exchange 

Innovation/Customer Service Winners: Community Care Team 

Leadership Strategic Pillar Winner: Barry Ilsley, Outdoor Team Member & OHS Representative 

Health, safety and wellbeing  

Council continued its commitment to staff health, safety and wellbeing by continuing several programs to 
encourage a healthy lifestyle and improved work/life balance. Programs include:  

 Ergonomic assessments  

 OHS and manual handling training  

 Providing sunscreen and insect repellent  

 Six-weekly issues of the HR Newsletter outlining Council policies and procedures, professional 
development and wellbeing 

 Employee wellbeing initiatives including the flu vaccination program undertaken by Council’s Public 
Health Unit, and subsidised gym memberships 

 Ongoing provision of Council’s Employee Assistance Program for employees requiring support and/
or counselling for work and non-work related matters. 

 Continued support of our internal Health and Wellbeing Committee with awareness day activities for 
example RUOK day, Men’s health week, LGBTQI+ initiatives, Women’s health day and international 
women’s day. 

OHS Committee  

Council’s OHS Committee is made up of 14 committed and competent staff who have been elected by 
their designated work group who are accompanied by a member of the management.  Together they work 
towards compliance with the OH&S Act and Regulations and assist with the delivery of Councils OH&S 
management plan. The committee meets every 2 months and met six times during 2022/23.  

In 2022/23 there were 21 reported injuries compared to 17 in the previous year. There were 0 standard 
WorkCover Claims, compared to 2 in the previous year and 1 minor WorkCover Claims compared to 2 in 
the previous year. 
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Staff service awards 

Every year Council acknowledges service and presents awards to staff who have reached service 
milestones. Eleven staff were presented with Staff Service Awards at the annual all-staff function in 
December 2022. 

OUR PEOPLE 

10 years of service 

20 years of service 

25 years of service 

Adam Hunter 

Maryanne Darroch Sharon Lindsay Sharon Bennett Josefina Gabriel 

Jamie Scott Rebecca Herman 

Rhonice Graham Steven Brown 

Kerry Young Eileen Morath 
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Our performance 

Integrated strategic planning and reporting framework 

Part 4 of the Local Government Act 2020 requires councils to prepare the following: 

 A Community Vision (for at least the next 10 financial years); 

 A Council Plan (for at least the next 4 financial years); 

 A Financial Plan (for at least the next 10 financial years); 

 An Asset Plan (for at least the next 10 financial years); 

 A Revenue and Rating Plan (for at least the next 4 financial years); 

 An Annual Budget (for the next 4 financial years); 

 A Quarterly Budget Report; 

 An Annual Report (for each financial year); and 

 Financial Policies. 
 

The Act also requires councils to prepare: 

 A Workforce Plan (including projected staffing requirements for at least 4 years); 
 

The following diagram shows the relationships between the key planning and reporting documents 

that make up the integrated strategic planning and reporting framework for local government. It also 

shows that there are opportunities for community and stakeholder input and feedback. 

(Municipal Public Health  
and Wellbeing Plan) 
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Community Vision and Council Plan  

The Community Vision and Council Plan 2021-25 includes strategic objectives strategies for achieving 
these for the four-year period, strategic indicators for monitoring achievement, and the Municipal Public 
Health and Wellbeing Plan.  
 

Performance  

Council’s performance for the year has been reported against each strategic initiative to demonstrate how 
Council is performing in relation to the 2021-25 Council Plan.  
 
Performance has been measured as follows:  

 Results achieved in relation to the strategic indicators in the Council Plan.  

 Progress in relation to the major initiatives defined in the Budget.  

 Services funded in the Budget and the persons or sections of the community who are provided those 
services.  

 Results against the prescribed Service Performance Indicators and measures.  
 

Strategic Pillars 

The Community Vision and Council Plan is supported by four themed pillars as detailed below which form 
the key directions and focus. 

 

We will be a healthy, connected and growing community supported 

by a range of infrastructure and services.  

 

 

 

We will continue to build and strengthen a prosperous local 

economy, through sustainable growth and education. We will focus 

on creating jobs and wealth through adding value to existing 

strengths in all areas of our economy.  

 

 

 

We will be a welcoming community for all, recognised for our 

maturity and respect for each other.  

 

 

 

 

We will ensure accountable leadership, advocacy and transparent 

decision making. 
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Strategic Pillar 1: Liveability  

Council Plan Initiatives 

The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan, including results 

achieved in relation to the strategic initiatives included in the Plan.  

 Completed      >>  In progress/continuing in 2023/24     - Carried over to 2023/24 

OUR PERFORMANCE 

Council Plan Initiative Action Status 

Attractive urban areas and 

regional townships 

Complete stage 1 of Vibrant  Villages project  

Continue to implement relevant actions of the Swan Hill 

Riverfront Masterplan 
>> 

Complete and implement the Robinvale Riverfront Masterplan >> 

Develop Nyah Riverfront Masterplan >> 

Develop Boundary Bend Riverfront Masterplan >> 

Develop a Small Town Strategy >> 

Ensure adequate provision 

of a variety of safe and 

secure housing 

Develop and build houses on Council owned property >> 

Continue to implement the Robinvale housing strategy >> 

Continue development of Tower Hill stages >> 

Assist South West Development Precinct developers >> 

Excellent transport links to 

allow ease of movement 

Advocate for the completion of the Murray Basin Rail Project >> 

Advocate for the continual improvement of the Murray Valley 

Highway and upgrade of the Robinvale-Sea Lake Road 
>> 

Actively participate in the Central Murray Regional Transport 

(CMRT) Forum 
 

Implement relevant actions from the CMRT strategy  

Accessible open spaces 

and healthy rivers and lakes 
Implement effective diversion and resuse of waste resources >> 

Encourage active and 

healthy lifestyles for people 

of all ages, abilities and 

interests 

Develop detailed plans for the lade Boga-Swan Hill trail >> 

Support initiatives leading to better outcomes for children and 

families 
>> 

Partner with agencies to address preventable illnesses and 

active lifestyles 
>> 

Spaces where people of all 

ages, abilities and 

backgrounds can flourish 

Reinvigorate performance spaces across the area, including 

Robinvale Community Art Centre 
 
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Major Initiatives 

The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in 

the 2022/23 Budget. 

Major Initiative Progress 

Tower Hill Stage 15 residential estate development                (Budget 
$2,500,000 Actual $ 670,777) 

Incomplete 

Robinvale Leisure Centre expansion (Budget $2,840,000           
Actual $2,309,946) 

Incomplete 

Art Gallery National Print and Drawing Awards (Budget $31,000 Actual 
$36,684) 

Complete 
  

Re-seal sealed roads (Budget $1,335,400 Actual $1,115,303) Complete 

Re-sheet unsealed gravel roads (Budget $792,500 Actual $504,559) Incomplete 

Complete road works funded by the Federal Roads to Recovery 
program (Budget $1,434,160 Actual $736,065) 

Incomplete 

Ronald Street Sub-division – increase housing supply (Budget 
$1,443,000 Actual $530,018) 

Incomplete 

Deliver the roadside weeds and pest management program (Budget 
$75,000 Actual $75,000). 

Complete 

Swan Hill Landfill – construction of a new waste cell (Budget 
$1,045,000 Actual $8,445) 

Incomplete 



Swan Hill Rural City Council - Annual Report 2022/23            53 

Services funded in 2022/23 Budget 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2022/23 Budget 
and the persons or sections of the community who are provided the service.  

OUR PERFORMANCE 

Service Area Description of services provided 

Budget 

Actual 

Variance 

$000 

(Income to 

Council) / Cost 

to Council 

Building and planning 

statutory services 

Provide statutory planning services including processing 

all planning applications, providing advice and making 

decisions about development proposals that require a 

planning permit. Represent Council at the Victorian Civil 

and Administrative Tribunal where necessary. Monitor 

Council’s Planning Scheme and prepare major policy 

documents shaping the future of the municipality. 

Provide statutory building services to the community, 

including processing building permits, emergency 

management responsibilities, fire safety inspections, 

swimming pool barrier audits and complaints, and illegal 

building works investigations. 

512 

414 

(98) 

  

Public health and 

regulatory services 

Co-ordinate food safety, immunisations and 

management of public health concerns to ensure an 

acceptable state of physical, mental and social 

wellbeing is maintained within the community. This 

service also provides staff at school crossings 

throughout the municipality, animal management 

services, parking control and enforcement and provides 

education, regulation and enforcement of the general 

738 

679 

(59) 

Leisure centres 

A wide range of programs and services giving the 

community a chance to participate in cultural, health, 

education, and leisure activities that contribute to the 

community’s general wellbeing. 

3,261 

3,780 

519 

Amenity and safety 

Provide the community with well-maintained public 

areas with a focus on community access and safety.  

Maintain urban streets and public areas, including 

footpaths, in a clean and litter-free state and provide 

access to public conveniences and lighting of public 

areas. Provide and maintain efficient and effective open 

and underground drainage systems. 

3,290 

2,972 

(318) 

Community buildings 

Maintain and renew community buildings and facilities, 

including community centres, public halls and pre-

schools.   

1,487 

1,100 

(387) 



Service Area Description of services provided 

Budget 

Actual 

Variance 

$000 

(Income to 

Council) / Cost 

to Council 

Recreation 

Maintain Council’s parks, reserves, playgrounds and 

streetscapes in a functional and visually pleasing 

landscape. 

2,428 

3,013 

585 

Swimming pools 
Provide quality, accessible aquatic facilities that 

support a high quality of life for residents and visitors. 

504 

403 

(101) 

Traffic and 

transportation services 

Manage Council’s roads and associated infrastructure 

assets. Ongoing maintenance and renewal work to 

municipal infrastructure assets including sealed roads, 

unsealed roads, footpaths and aerodromes. 

5,095 

2,203 

(2,892) 

Environmental 

management 

Advocate for, and assist to deliver environmental 

projects as part of Council's aim to become more 

sustainable in both built and natural environments. 

This service also provides emergency management 

planning and support ensuring the municipality is 

prepared in the event of an emergency. 

435 

(481) 

(916) 

Waste management 

Provide waste collection services, including kerbside 

collection of garbage, hard waste and green waste 

from households and some commercial properties.  

This service area aims to operate at a surplus in order 

to make provision for future waste management 

service and compliance costs, including the 

construction of new cells and compliance with 

environmental protection guidelines.   

1,333 

(1,001) 

(2,334) 

Residential 

development 

Facilitating the efficient development of Council owned 

land and the maximisation of economic returns to rate 

payers from its realisation. 

(495) 

(510) 

(15) 

Cultural services 

Performing arts, art gallery and library services. A 

customer-focused service that caters for the cultural, 

educational and recreational needs of residents, while 

offering a place for the community to meet, relax and 

enjoy the facilities and services.  Includes the 

operation and maintenance of the Swan Hill Town Hall 

and Performing Arts Centre. 

1,655 

2,044 

389 
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Service Performance Indicators  

The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and 

measures.  

*Please note expected ranges are set by the State Government 

Service/Indicator/

Measure 

Result 

2020 

Result 

2021 

Result 

2022 

Result 

2023 
Material Variation 

Aquatic Facilities 

Service standard 

Health inspections of 
aquatic facilities 

[Number of authorised officer 

inspections of Council aquatic 

facilities / Number of Council 

aquatic facilities] 

  

  

0.6 

  

  

0.4 

  

  

1.0 

 

 

0.6 

Sampling for remotely located 

swimming pools was unable to be 

performed due to travel time and 

opening hours being outside 

Council employee work schedule. 

Utilisation 

Utilisation of aquatic 
facilities 

[Number of visits to aquatic 
facilities / Municipal 
population] 

 

4.56 

 

3.43 

 

5.58 

 

6.17 

Utilisation of aquatic facilities has 

increased due to COVID-19 

restrictions being lifted in late 

2022, allowing full use of facilities. 

Previous years had restrictions 

which decreased usage of these 

venues. 

Service cost 

Cost of aquatic facilities 

[Direct cost of aquatic 
facilities less income 
received / Number of visits to 
the aquatic facilities] 

 

$13.69 

 

$18.56 

 

$14.91 

 

$12.39 

The cost decrease is due to 

maintenance performed on various 

facilities bringing down running 

expenses considerably, for 

example reduced water usage 

costs, chemical and maintenance 

costs. 

OUR PERFORMANCE 

Result 2023 

column colour 

Reason 

 Within expected range 

 Outside of expected range 
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Service/Indicator/Measure 
Result 

2020 

Result 

2021 

Result 

2022 

Result 

2023 
Material Variation 

Animal Management 

Timeliness 

Time taken to action animal 
requests 

[Number of days between receipt 
and first response action for all 
animal management requests / 
Number of animal management 
requests]  

 

 

1.47 

 

 

1.07 

 

 

1.20 

 

 

1.31 

 

Service standard 

Animals reclaimed 

[Number of animals reclaimed / 
Number of animals collected] 
x100 

 

22.22% 

 

28.03% 

 

26.90% 

 

29.56% 

Animals reclaimed from the 
pound remains low due to costs 
of microchipping, desexing and 
vaccinations. 

Service standard 

Animals rehomed 

[Number of animals rehomed/ 
Number of animals collected]     
x100 

 

67.27% 

 

67.42% 

 

69.31% 

 

60.95% 

This decrease may be 
attributed to the higher cost of 
living and caring for a cat or 
dog  and the extra expenses 
associated with adoption fees,  
vet fees and other costs 
associated with caring for 
animals. 

Service cost 

Cost of animal management 
service per population 

[Direct cost of the animal 
management service / 
Population] 

 

$10.01 

 

$10.30 

 

$18.38 

 

$14.02 

Reduction in costs per animal 
was due to several factors 
including an increase in 
registered animals and 
population, an increase in 
income from animal 
registrations and reclaimed/
rehomed animals, and the 
major projects due for this year 
were rescheduled to 2023/24 
which resulted in a saving in 
2022/23. 

Health and safety 

Animal management 

prosecutions 

[Number of successful animal 

management prosecutions/ Total 

number of animal management 

prosecutions] x 100 

 

0 

 

100% 

 

0 

 

0 
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Service/Indicator/Measure 
Result 

2020 

Result 

2021 

Result 

2022 

Result 

2023 
Material Variation 

Food safety 

Timeliness 

The time taken to action 
food complaints 

[Number of days between 
receipt and first response 
action for all food complaints / 
Number of food complaints] 

 

 

1.80 

 

 

1.90 

 

 

2.56 

 

 

3.17 

This increase is due to 2 
complaints being remote venues 
that only operate on very limited 
days and hours. 

Service standard 

Food safety assessments 

[Number of registered class 1 
food premises and class 2 
food premises that receive an 
annual food safety 
assessment in accordance 
with the Food Act 1984 / 
Number of registered class 1 
food premises and class 2 
food premises that require an 
annual food safety 
assessment in accordance 
with the Food Act 1984] x 100 

 

84.97% 

 

28.07% 

 

79.63% 

 

84.76% 

100% of Class 1 and 85% of 
Class 2 food premises received 
an annual food inspection in 
2022. 

Service cost 

Cost of food safety service 

[Direct cost of the food safety 
service / Number of food 
premises registered or notified 
in accordance with the Food 
Act 1984] 

 

$488.61 

 

$510.35 

 

$513.99 

 

$690.59 

This cost has increased due to 
higher number of statutory food 
samples required and complaint 
samples conducted this year.  
Plus an increase in training 
completed by the Environmental 
Health Officers this year. 

Health and safety 

Critical and major non-
compliance outcome 
notifications 

[Number of critical non-
compliance notifications and 
major non-compliance 
notifications about a food 
premises followed up / 
Number of critical non-
compliance notifications and 
major non-compliance 
notifications about food 
premises] 

 

100.00% 

 

66.67% 

 

40.00% 

 

100% 

Increase in outcomes is due to a 
dedicated Environmental Health 
Officer was employed to complete 
Food and Safety Inspections. All 
critical major and crucial non-
compliance outcome notifications 
were followed up within the 2022 
calendar year.  
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Service/Indicator/Measure 
Result 

2020 

Result 

2021 

Result 

2022 

Result 

2023 
Material Variation 

Roads 

Satisfaction of use 

Sealed local road requests 

[Number of sealed local road 
requests / Kilometres of sealed 
local roads] x 100 

 

 

6.87 

 

 

6.76 

 

 

5.96 

 

 

14.64 

The notable increase on the 
previous year’s figures is due 
to the major flood event 
combined with localised 
flooding in what has proven to 
be one of the wettest years 
on record. 

Condition 

Sealed local roads maintained 
to condition standards 

[Number of kilometres of sealed 
local roads below the renewal 
intervention level set by Council / 
Kilometres of sealed local road]  
x100 

 

99.28% 

 

99.28% 

 

99.37% 

 

99.27% 

 

 

Service cost 

Cost of sealed local road 
reconstruction 

[Direct cost of sealed local road 
reconstruction / Square metres of 
sealed local roads reconstructed] 

 

$30.75 

 

$33.26 

 

$59.36 

 

$30.97 

There has been a reduction 
from the previous years where 
resealing occurred in more 
remote areas, which 
increased the previous years 
cost.  

Service cost 

Cost of sealed local road 
resealing 

[Direct cost of sealed local road 
resealing / Square metres of 
sealed local roads resealed] 

 

$4.98 

 

$5.58 

 

$4.80 

 

$6.79 

Focus on urban roads with 
shorter segments has resulted 
in a rise in cost this financial 
year as shorter segments 
result in a higher rate charged. 

Satisfaction 

Satisfaction with sealed local 
roads 

[Community satisfaction rating 
out of 100 with how Council has 
performed on the condition of 
sealed local roads] 

 

44 

 

52 

 

51 

 

44 

The decrease on the previous 
year’s satisfaction with sealed 
roads can be attributed to the 
major flood event combined 
with localised flooding in what 
has proven to be one of the 
wettest years on record. 
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Service/Indicator/Measure 
Result 

2020 

Result 

2021 

Result 

2022 

Result 

2023 
Material Variation 

Waste Collection 

Satisfaction 

Kerbside bin collection 
requests 

[Number of kerbside garbage 
and recycling bin collection 
requests / Number of kerbside 
bin collection households] x 1000 

 

 

28.37 

 

 

112.19 

 

 

118.16 

 

 

115.82 

 

Service standard 

Kerbside collection bins 
missed 

[Number of kerbside garbage 
and recycling collection bins 
missed / Number of scheduled 
kerbside garbage and recycling 
collection bin lifts] x 10,000 

 

1.76 

 

5.78 

 

3.99 

 

5.19 

This figure includes numbers 
of when bins were not put out 
for collection.  

Service cost 

Cost of kerbside garbage 
collection service 

[Direct cost of the kerbside 
garbage bin collection service / 
Number of kerbside garbage 
collection bins] 

 

$81.12 

 

$86.91 

 

$93.39 

 

$106.77 

Due to many newly 
constructed dwellings, the 
number of properties requiring 
bin collection services 
increased. The state levy 
went up which increased 
contractor collection costs.  

Service cost 

Cost of kerbside recyclables 
collection service 

[Direct cost of the kerbside 
recyclables bin collection 
service / Number of kerbside 
recyclables collection bins] 

 

$42.38 

 

$78.51 

 

$80.40 

 

$88.77 

This increase is due to an 
annual CPI increase under 
the contract,  and an increase 
in the number of newly 
constructed dwellings that 
require service. 

Waste diversion 

Kerbside collection waste 
diverted from landfill 

[Weight of recyclables and green 
organics collected from kerbside 
bins / Weight of garbage, 
recyclables and green organics 
collected from kerbside bins] x 
100 

 

27.67% 

 

29.51% 

 

30.92% 

 

29.28% 
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Strategic Pillar 2: Prosperity 

Council Plan Initiatives 

The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan, including results 

achieved in relation to the strategic initiatives included in the Plan.  

 Completed    >>  In progress/continuing     - Carried over  

Council Plan Initiative Action Status 

Support our key industries Develop an Economic recovery plan in response to COVID-19  - 

Encourage the growth and 

development of our economy 

Continue to support existing businesses to grow through the 

implementation of the Better Approvals process 
>> 

Actively pursue the establishment of a Designated Area Migration 

Agreement (DAMA) 
>> 

Assets for our current and 

future needs 

Deliver and review Council’s capital works program and Major 

Projects Plan each year 
>> 

Review current assets and identify future needs - create a program to 

bridge the gap and identify funding requirements 
>> 

Continue to plan and seek funding to implement the development of 

community infrastructure 
>> 
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Major Initiatives 

The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in the 

2022/2023 Budget. 

Major Initiative Progress 

Provide seed funding for economic development initiatives as identified in 
the Economic Development Strategy (Budget $75,000 Actual $43,572)  

Incomplete 

Livestock Exchange anti-slip surfacing and drainage (Budget $82,000 
Actual $51,000)  

Incomplete 

McCallum Street footpath (Budget $379,160 Actual $527,131)  Complete  

Swan Hill Town Hall exterior refurbishment (Budget $440,000      Actual 
$150,570)  

Incomplete 

Art Gallery and interpretive centre development – Our Region Our Rivers 
funding (Budget $7,196,790 Actual $51,413)  

Incomplete 

Activation of lighting and digital content in the Pioneer Settlement (Budget 
$330,000 Actual $439,904)  

Complete 

Monash Avenue Nyah West toilet block renewal (Budget $165,000 Actual 
$12,692)  

Incomplete 
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Services funded in 2022/23 Budget 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2022/23 Budget 
and the persons or sections of the community who are provided the service.  

Service Area Description of services provided 

Budget 

Actual 

Variance 

$000 

(Income to 

Council) / Cost 

to Council 

Caravan parks  

Provide and maintain caravan park facilities to a 

standard that promotes local tourism and supports a 

high quality of life. 

(153) 

(120) 

33  

Economic development 

Assist the organisation with economic development to 

facilitate an environment that is conducive to a 

sustainable and growing local business sector, and 

provide opportunities for local residents to improve their 

skill levels and access employment. 

5,277 

3,689 

(1,588) 

Pioneer Settlement 

Care for and conserve the Pioneer Settlement and its 

collection. Market and promote the Settlement as a 

tourist destination, provide quality visitor programs and 

promote the sale of merchandise as an additional 

source of income. 

1,086 

1,172 

86 

Livestock exchange 

Provide a livestock selling facility and associated 

services to primary producers, purchasers and stock 

agents. 

1 

206 

205 



Part five | Our Performance                 63 

Service Performance Indicators  

The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and 

measures. *Please note expected ranges are set by the State Government 

Service/Indicator/Measure 
Result 

2020 

Result 

2021 

Result 

2022 

Result 

2023 
Material Variation 

Statutory Planning 

Timeliness 

Time taken to decide 

planning applications 

[The median number of days 

between receipt of a planning 

application and a decision on 

the application] 

  

  

49 

  

  

41 

  

  

79 

 

 

96 

This increase in time taken to 

decide planning applications 

is a result of a reduction in  

planning staff in 2022/23 and 

difficulty in recruiting for 

planning positions. 

Service standard 

Planning applications 

decided within required 

timeframes 

[Number of planning 

application decisions made 

within 60 days for regular 

permits and 10 days for 

VicSmart permits / Number of 

planning application decisions 

made] x 100 

  

85.53% 

  

96.39% 

  

71.28% 

 

59.85% 

The decrease  in planning 

applications decided within 

required time frames is a 

result of a reduction in  

planning staff in 2022/23 and 

difficulty in recruiting for 

planning positions. 

Service cost 

Cost of statutory planning 

service 

[Direct cost of statutory 

planning service / Number of 

planning applications 

received] 

  

$3,417.33 

  

$2,675.24 

  

$3,217.67 

 

$3,967.19 

Contractors were engaged 

during the year, where 

Council have been 

unsuccessful in recruiting 

permanent staff which 

resulted in increased 

associated costs.  

Decision making 

Council’s planning 

decisions upheld at VCAT 

[Number of VCAT decisions 

that did not set aside Council’s 

decision in relation to a 

planning application / Number 

of VCAT decisions in relation 

to planning applications] x100 

  

0 

  

0 

  

0 

 

3 

 

In 2022/23 Council had 5 

Planning applications 

referred to VCAT with 3 

being upheld and 2 were not 

compared to previous years 

where we had no planning 

decisions upheld at VCAT. 
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Community funding  

Swan Hill Rural City Council recognises, respects and values the contribution that community, 
sporting and not-for-profit organisations make within our community. One of the ways Council does 
this is through the annual Community Grants program. Recipients of the 2022/23 Community Grants 
are detailed in the tables that follow:  
 

Community Development Fund 
The Community Development Fund provides grants of up to $5,000 to eligible community groups and 
organisations. Funding may be given for projects including minor repairs or upgrades to community 
facilities; purchase of new or upgraded equipment; new programs or activities; local sustainability 
initiatives or environmental innovations; increasing club capacity; OHS or risk management issues 
and more.   

Organisation Approved 

amount  

Project description 

Robinvale Swan Hill Rifle Club Inc.  $5,000 Concreting works to target gallery  

Lake Boga Bowling Club Inc.  $5,000 Concreting works to driveway entrance  

Swan Hill Genealogical and Historical Society 
Inc.  

$2,914.50  Computer replacement  

Ultima Football Netball Club Inc.  $2,500 Purchase of new BBQ  

Swan Hill Bowls Club Inc.  $5,000 
Replace section of acoustic ceiling tiles 
with plasterboard in clubrooms  

Speewa Heritage Collectors Club  $4,000 Upgrade toilet facilities at Speewa Hall  

Chinkapook Reserve Committee of 
Management  

$2,580  New vacuum cleaner for Chinkapook Hall  

1st Lake Boga Sea Scouts  $2,600 Upgrade to lighting in clubrooms  

Robinvale Lawn Tennis Club  $4,834 
Installation of commercial dishwasher in 
clubrooms  

Tyntynder Football Netball Club Inc.  $1,000 Replacement of defibrillator at clubrooms  

Swan Hill Theatre Group  $3,500  
Installation of lighting along frontage onto 
McCrae Street  

Mallee Steam, Oil & Machinery Club Inc.  $5,000 
Replacement of recreation reserve water 
tanks  

Robinvale Storm Rugby League Football Club  $2,000 Purchase of equipment  

Swan Hill Neighbourhood House  $5,000 Concreting works to driveway  

Kooloonong Natya Landcare Group  $1,500 Fencing of Piangil Depot  
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OUR PERFORMANCE 

Event Support Fund  
 
 

The Event Support Fund provides grants and logistical support to community groups and event organisers to 
develop new events, or existing events that provide significant economic and/or social benefit to the region. 

Of the first section of applications listed in the table below and received in the official round for 22/23, Council 
allocated $80,468.75 worth of funding (cash and/or logistical support). 

After this round Council allocated further funding towards: 

 Yana Waingi Walk in Lights Swan Hill and Kartini Waingi Water Lights Robinvale - $15,000 

 $50,000 in funding from the 21/22 FY was rolled over to fund the Go North Arts Festival 2022 
($25,000) and RocKwiz LIVE Under the Stars 2023 ( $25,000). 

 There was also some additional ad-hoc expenditure and/or allocations amounted to an estimated 
$4,461 

The rollover of previous Event Support Fund and Local Entertainment grant allocations into the 22/23 FY 
amounted to $53,000 (excluding Go North and Rockwiz). 
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Event Logistical support 

Total Value of 

the Grant 

Approved 

(cash and if 

any logistical 

support)  

Cash 
Sponsorship 
acquitted and 
received by the 
applicant 
2022/23 

Swan Hill Bowls Club Inc. Autumn/
May Carnival   $3,000 $2,000 

Celebrating 100 Years Since the 
Soldier Settlement of Kooloonong 
Natya  
  

  $2,000   $2,000   

Brew & Chew Festival 2022  
  

POPE permit fee, event permit fee, 
traffic management and signage, 
venue hire and toilet cleaning.  

$10,000 
($7,000 cash, 
$3,000 logistical 
support) 

Rolled over to 
23/24  

Cinema Pop Up  
  

POPE permit fee (if POPE permit 
required), event permit fee, toilet 
cleaning and venue hire.  

$3,000 logistical 
support only 

Rolled over to 
23/24  

Acoustic Vibes Swan Hill  
  

POPE permit fee, event permit fee, 
venue hire and cleaning.  

$7,000 ($5,000 
cash and 
$2,000 
logistical) 

Rolled over to 
23/24  

Australian Police Bowling 
Championships  
  

  $2,500  $2,500   
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Event Support Fund cont... 

Event Logistical support 

Total Value of 

the Grant 

Approved 

(cash and if 

any logistical 

support)  

Cash 
Sponsorship 
acquitted and 
received by the 
applicant 
2022/23 

2023 Robinvale Euston 80 Ski Race 

POPE permit fee (if 
required), event permit fee, 
venue hire, traffic 
management and signage, 
cleaning and depot support. 

$3,000 
logistical 
support only   

  

Robinvale Lawn Tennis Club 2023 
Easter Tournament 

SHRCC 2 x trophies/
medallions for juniors. 

$2,500 
( $2,000 cash 
and $500 
logistical 
support)  

$2,000  

Annuello 100 Celebration Event permit fee. 

$1,102.50 
($1,000 cash 
and $102.50 
logistical 
support)  

$1,000   

The Spirit of Rural Communities  $2,000   $2,000   

Swan Hill Badminton Veterans 
Tournament 2023 

 $1,500  $1,500  

Nyah District Christmas Carnival  $2,000   $2,000  

Swan Hill Junior Invitational Basketball 
Tournament 

Swan Hill Basketball 
Stadium venue hire and 
Pioneer Settlement Lodges 
accommodation. 

$5,000 
logistical 
support only  

Rolled over to 
23/24  

Robinvale Swan Hill Rifle Club Annual 
Prize Meeting 

  $1,815  $1815  

Association Croquet Regional 
Championships 

Providing local information 
material to place into your 
promotional bags. 

$1,000 ($1,000 
cash, no value 
assigned to 
logistical 
support N/A)  

$1,000  

Blues On The Murray Swan Hill 
POPE permit fee, event 
permit fee and venue hire. 

$3,700 ($2,000 
cash and 
$1,700 
logistical 
support)  

Rolled over to 
2023/24  
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Event Logistical support 

Total Value of 

the Grant 

Approved 

(cash and if 

any logistical 

Cash Sponsorship 
acquitted and 
received by the 
applicant 2022/23 

Marking the Centenary of the Ultima War 
Memorial 

  $1,000 $1,000  

NAB League Game - 2023   $3,000 Grant cancelled  

Mallee Almond Blossom Festival 

POPE permit fee, event 
permit fee, venue hire, 
traffic management and 
signage, depot support and 
cleaning. 

$3,500 
logistical 
support only 

  

Speewa Swap Meet 
Bollards and SHRCC 
banner. 

$800 ($800 
cash, no 
value 
assigned to 
logistical 
support N/A) 

$800 

Swan Hill Region Food and Wine Festival 
POPE permit fee, event 
permit fee, venue hire and 
cleaning. 

$11,000 
($5,000 cash 
and $6,000 
logistical 
support) 

$5,000 

Swan Hill Easter Market Day 
Traffic management and 
signage. 

$1,500 
logistical 
support only 

  

Swan Hill Market Day 
Traffic management and 
signage. 

$1,500 
logistical 
support only 

  

Robinvale Christmas Carnival 
Event permit fee, traffic 
management, signage and 
depot support. 

$5,000 
($3,000 cash 
and $2,000 
logistical 
support) 

$3,000 

Lake Boga Yacht Club Easter Regatta 
2023 

Event permit fee. 

$1051.25 
( $1,000 cash 
and $51.25 
logistical 
support) 

$1,000 

Swan Hill & District Garden Club Inc. - 
40th Birthday Celebrations 

  $1,000  $1,000 

Event Support Fund cont... 
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Applicant 
Approved 

amount 
Total value acquitted 

Robinvale Wines   $1,000  $1,000  

Peachy’s Bar   $1,000   
Grant expired – not 
claimed   

Swan Hill Football Netball Club  $500  $500  

Manangatang Hotel  $1,000  $1,000  

Spoons Riverside ( Swan Hill Club)  $1,000  $1,000  

Manangatang Racecourse  $500  
Grant expired – not 
claimed  

Robinvale Lawn Tennis Club  $500  $500  

Tyntynder Football Netball Club  $1,000  
Grant expired – not 
claimed  

Jack Bar and Bistro  $1,000   
Grant expired – not 
claimed  

Local Entertainment Grants  

In response to the impacts of COVID-19, during February 2021 Council introduced the Local 
Entertainment Grants to offer businesses the opportunity to apply for up to 2 grants, of up to $500 each; 
to pay for entertainment within their premises. It is hoped that these grants have and will help 
strengthen business in the short-term by encouraging patronage. This grant program was not fully 
exhausted but has now closed due to a lengthy application period. Outstanding grants were allowed an 
extension beyond the 31 December 2021 and any remaining have been rolled over into 22/23 to allow 
business to still benefit. The Local Entertainment Grant component of the Event Support Fund had an 
allocation of $25,000. The below table notes a record of grants rolled over into the 22/23 FY. 
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Strategic Pillar 3: Harmony 

Council Plan Initiatives 

The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan, including results 

achieved in relation to the strategic initiatives included in the Plan.  

 Completed    >>  In progress/continuing     - Carried over to  

Council Plan Initiative Action Status 

Our elderly and vulnerable 

are cared for 
Review Community Access and Inclusion Strategy (CAIS). >> 

All members of our 

Communities are supported 

Work in partnership with local agencies to prevent all forms of 

Family Violence. 
>> 

Develop and implement a Gender Equality Action Plan (GEAP)  

Ensure that we consider people of all abilities in the 

development of infrastructure and events 
>> 

Encourage and support 

community leadership 

Continue to offer Aboriginal scholarships and leadership 

opportunities 
>> 

Continue to assist to develop Our Place identifying an 

Aboriginal language name and business model 
>> 

Celebration and recognition 

of Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait history and culture 

Formal inclusion of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander input 

in Art Gallery programming and cultural activities 
 

Support Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander days of 

significance 
 
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Major Initiatives 

The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in the 

2022/23 Budget 

Services funded in 2022/23 Budget 

Major Initiative Progress 

Deliver the Empower Youth Initiative (Budget $156,620  Actual 
$202,351)  

Complete  

Coordinate the L2P Driver program in Swan Hill and Robinvale 
(Budget $139,260 Actual $101,256)  

Complete  

Youth Support – Engage program (Budget $90,000 Actual $36,352)  Incomplete 

Service Area Description of services provided 

Budget 

Actual 

Variance 

$000 

(Income to 

Council) / Cost 

to Council 

Aged and disability 

services 

A range of home and community care services for the aged 
and people with a disability including home delivered meals, 
personal care, transport, dementia care, home 
maintenance, housing support and senior citizen clubs. 

7 

(168) 

(175) 

Family and children 

services 

Family oriented support services including pre-schools, 

maternal and child health, youth services, out of school 

hours, and holiday programs. 

1,139 

770 

(369) 

Community 

development 

Effective and ongoing liaison with, and support to, 

community and recreation groups. Support for the 

development and implementation of Community Plans and 

liaison with our Indigenous community. 

663 

805 

142 
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Service Performance Indicators  

The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and 

measures. *Please note expected ranges are set by the State Government 

Service/Indicator/Measure 
Result 

2020 

Result 

2021 

Result 

2022 

Result 

2023 
Material Variation 

Libraries  

Utilisation 

Physical library collection 
usage 

[Number of physical library 
collection item loans / Number 
of physical library collection 
items] 

 

 

1.24 

 

 

0.89 

 

 

0.97 

 

 

0.92 

Usage of the physical 

collection has slightly 

decreased as usage of 

the electronic collection 

has increased. 

Resource standard 

Recently purchased library 
collection 

[Number of library collection 
items purchased in the last 
five years / Number of library 
collection items] x 100 

 

48.61% 

 

43.45% 

 

41.20% 

 

37.07% 

The decrease in the 

percentage of items 

purchased in the last 5 

years is due to an 

increase in the number of 

collection items that are 

now more than 5 years 

old. 

 

Participation 

Active library borrowers 

[The sum of the number of 

active library borrowers in the 

last 3 financial years / the sum 

of the Municipal population in 

the last 3 financial years] x 

 

16.28% 

 

14.52% 

 

13.35% 

 

13.41% 

 

Service cost 

Cost of library service 

[Direct cost of library service / 
population] 

 

$46.96 

 

$44.18 

 

$50.14 

 

$51.98 

 

Further information can be found at  https://knowyourcouncil.vic.gov.au/  
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Service Performance Indicators cont... 

Service/Indicator/Measure 
Result 

2020 

Result 

2021 

Result 

2022 

Result 

2023 
Material Variation 

Maternal Child Health (MCH) 

Service standard 

Infant enrolments in the MCH 

service 

[Number of infants enrolled in the 

MCH service / Number of birth 

notifications received] x 100 

 

102.13% 

 

102.21% 

 

102.01% 

 

100.69% 

 

Service cost 

Cost of the MCH service 

[Cost of the MCH service / Hours 

worked by MCH nurses] 

 

$91.19 

 

$109.86 

 

$121.52 

 

$110.69 

 

Participation 

Participation in the MCH 

service 

[Number of children who attend 

the MCH service at least once (in 

the year) / Number of children 

enrolled in the MCH service] x 

100 

 

75.04% 

 

80.05% 

 

82.74% 

 

89.19% 

Slight increase due to 

increased capacity to follow 

up on overdue Key Age 

and Stage visits each 

month. 

Participation 

Participation in the MCH 

service by Aboriginal children 

[Number of Aboriginal children 

who attend the MCH service at 

least once (in the year) / Number 

of Aboriginal children enrolled in 

the MCH service] x 100 

 

66.20% 

 

76.26% 

 

77.50% 

 

83.57% 

Council have an agreement 

to  provide MCH services 

on behalf of MDAS in Swan 

Hill. It is noted that there is 

an increase in Aboriginal 

children/ families enrolling 

in mainstream services 

over the 2022/23 year. 

Satisfaction 

Participation in 4-week key 

age and stage visit 

[Number of 4-week key age and 

stage visits / Number of birth 

notifications received]  

 

96.65% 

 

94.01% 

 

95.99% 

 

92.44% 

Slight reduction in the 

participation in the 4-

week Key Age and Stage 

visit due to an increase 

in neonates having 

longer term postnatal 

stays in Special Care or 

Intensive Care 

OUR PERFORMANCE 
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Strategic Pillar 4: Leadership 

Council Plan Initiatives 

The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan, including results 
achieved in relation to the strategic initiatives included in the Plan.  

 Completed    >>  In progress/continuing     - Carried over  

Council Plan Initiative Action Status 

Well managed resources for 

a sustainable future 

Invest in the development of employees to enable a highly 

skilled and engaged workforce 
>> 

Develop and implement a Workforce Development Plan  

Provide robust governance 

and effective leadership 

Implement a Project Management Framework and system >> 

Develop and implement a Strategic Asset Management 

plan and supporting Asset Management plans 
 

Provide Councillors with professional development and 

support to ensure effective governance 
>> 

Work with Town Representative groups to better plan and 

deliver projects 
>> 

Sound, sustainable: 

 Financial management 

 Excellence in service 

delivery 

 Strategic planning 

Deliver projects on time, on budget and within scope >> 

Working to budget and ensure future planning to meet 

financial needs 
 

Effective and authentic 

engagement with our 

community 

Review our use of social media platforms across Council 

with a view of increasing Council’s exposure and ensuring 

consistent moderation 
>> 

Visible presence in our 

community 

Continue quarterly Coffee with a Councillor around the >> 

Create a culture where staff are ambassadors for the >> 

Create meaningful 

partnerships across our 

communities 

Continue involvement in community groups >> 

Continue to support and work with Swan Hill Incorporated >> 

Strong relationship with State 

and Federal governments to 

influence advocacy and 

funding opportunities 

Continue to advocate on the following issues: 

 Improved Healthcare for our people, including a new 
hospital for Swan Hill 

 A new Murray River Bridge at Swan Hill 

 Complete the Murray Basin Rail Project 

 Housing and enabling infrastructure 
Better use of environmental water and the development of 

a plan specific to the Murray River between Swan Hill and 

Robinvale 

>> 

Review Council's advocacy strategy on an annual basis >> 

Working together in 

promotion of the municipality 

Positively promote our region as a great place >> 

Continue to work with Murray River Tourism and Swan Hill >> 
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Major Initiatives 

The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in the 

2022/23 Budget 

Services funded in 2022/23 Budget 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2022/23 Budget 

and the persons or sections of the community who are provided the service.  

OUR PERFORMANCE 

Service Area Description of services provided 

Budget 

Actual 

Variance 

$000 

(Income to 

Council) / Cost 

to Council 

Councillors and 

corporate management 

Governance includes the Mayor, Councillors, Chief 

Executive Officer, Executive Leadership Team and 

associated support, which cannot easily be attributed to 

the direct service provision areas. 

2,107 

2,092 

(15) 

  

Community 

relationships 

  

Proactively communicate Council decisions, programs 

and events to the community using a range of methods, 

and assist the organisation to respond to community 

issues as they arise. 

272 

200 

(72) 

  

Management of resources 

  

Manage Council’s offices along with human and financial 

resources to effectively and efficiently fulfil Council 

objectives.  This includes rate raising and collection, 

customer service, human resource management, depot 

and office site management, Council finances, 

information technology and records management. 

(27,208) 

(31,882) 

(4,674) 

  

  

Infrastructure planning 

and management 

Provide for the planning, design and project 

management of Council’s capital works program, and 

manage Council’s plant and fleet assets and depot 

operations. 

            1,175 

            1,215 

                 40 

Major Initiative Progress 

Further develop Council IT processes as identified in the Data and 
Technology Strategy (Budget $660,000 Actual $323,695)  

 
Incomplete 

Centenary Park Robinvale Masterplan (Budget $60,000 Actual $38,083)  

 
Incomplete 

IT Equipment Replacements (Budget $160,000 Actual $119,625)  

 
Complete 
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Service Performance Indicators  

The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and 

measures. *Please note expected ranges are set by the State Government. 

Service/Indicator/Measure 
Result 

2020 

Result 

2021 

Result 

2022 

Result 

2023 
Material Variation 

Governance 

Transparency 

Council decisions made at 
meetings closed to the public 

[Number of Council resolutions 
made at meetings of Council, or at 
meetings of a delegated 
committee consisting only of 
Councillors, closed to the public / 
Number of Council resolutions 
made at meetings of Council, or at 
meetings of a delegated 
committee consisting only of 
Councillors] x 100 

 

 

4.37% 

 

 

4.04% 

 

 

4.93% 

 

 

5.56% 

Decisions made at closed 
meetings to the public is 
determined by the nature 
of the decisions being 
made. 

. 

Consultation and 
engagement 

Satisfaction with community 
consultation and engagement 

[Community satisfaction rating out 
of 100 with how Council has 
performed on community 
consultation and engagement] 

 

 

52 

 

 

51 

 

 

48 

 

 

50 

 

Attendance 

Councillor attendance at 
Council Meetings 

[The sum of the number of 
Councillors who attended each 
Council Meeting / (Number of 
council meetings) x (Number of 
Councillors elected at the last 
Council general election)] x 100 

 

95.92% 

 

94.44% 

 

90.00% 

 

89.52% 

A Countback  was held in 
this period due to 
Councillor being elected to 
State Government which 
reduced attendance until a 
new Councillor was 
appointed to that elected 
position. 

Service cost 

Cost of elected representation 

[Direct cost of the Governance 
service / Number of Councillors 
elected at the last Council general 
election] 

 

$43,914 

 

$43,117 

 

$52,315 

 

$53,993 

 

Satisfaction 

Satisfaction with Council 
decisions 

[Community satisfaction rating out 
of 100 with the performance of 
Council in making decisions in the 
interest of the community] 

 

45 

 

48 

 

45 

 

45 

 

Further information can be found at  https://knowyourcouncil.vic.gov.au/  
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Governance 

Swan Hill Rural City Council is constituted under the Local Government Act 2020 to provide leadership for 
the good governance of the municipal district and the local community. Council has a number of roles 
including: 

 Taking into account the diverse needs of the local community in decision-making 

 Providing leadership by establishing strategic objectives and monitoring achievements 

 Ensuring that resources are managed in a responsible and accountable manner 

 Advocating the interests of the local community to other communities and governments 

 Fostering community cohesion and encouraging active participation in civic life. 

Council is committed to effective and sustainable forms of democratic and corporate governance as the key 
to ensuring that Council and its administration meet the community’s priorities. The community has many 
opportunities to provide input into Council’s decision-making processes including community consultation, 
public forums such as Council meetings and the ability to make submissions to Council. 

Council’s formal decision-making processes are conducted through Council meetings and Delegated 
Committees of Council. Council delegates the majority of its decision-making to Council staff. These 
delegations are exercised in accordance with adopted Council policies. 
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Meetings of Council  
Council conducts open public meetings on the third Tuesday of each month. Members of the community 
are welcome to attend these meetings and observe from the gallery. Council meetings also provide the 
opportunity for community members to submit a question of Council, make a submission or speak to an 
item. 

For the 2022/23 year, Council held the following meetings: 

 11 Scheduled Council Meetings 

 4 Unscheduled Council Meetings 

Below are the dates and locations of the Scheduled Council Meetings held in 2022/23: 

 

 

 

 

Councillor attendance at Council meetings 

The following table provides a summary of Councillor attendance at Council Meetings and Unscheduled 
Council Meetings for the 2022/23 financial year. 

Delegated committee and Community Asset Committees 
The Local Government Act allows councils to establish one or more delegated and assets committees 
consisting of: 

 Councillors 
 Council staff 
 Other persons 
 Any combination of the above.  

Council did not establish any delegated or Community Asset committees during 2022/23. 

Councillor  

Scheduled  

Council Meetings 

Scheduled 

Council Meetings 

Unscheduled   

Council Meetings 

Unscheduled   

Council Meetings 

Eligible to attend Attended Eligible to attend Attended 

Cr Les McPhee 11 10 4 3 

Cr Ann Young  11 11 4 4 

Cr Bill Moar 11 11 4 4 

Cr Stuart King 11 9 4 4 

Cr Chris Jeffery 11 8 4 2 

Cr Jade Benham 1 1 0 0 

Cr Nicole McKay 

Cr Jacquie Kelly 

11 

5 

10 

5 

4 

3 

4 

3 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Month Location Month Location 

19 July 2022 Swan Hill 21 February 2023 Swan Hill 

16 August 2022 Swan Hill 21 March 2023 Swan Hill 

20 September 2022 Swan Hill 18 April 2023 Swan Hill 

18 October 2022 Swan Hill 16 May 2023 Swan Hill 

15 November 2022 Swan Hill 20 June 2023 Swan Hill 

20 December 2022 Swan Hill   
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Council representation on other committees  
Councillors are representatives on Delegated Committees of Council, as well as other external 
committees, associations and groups. 

Cr Les McPhee 
 Chief Executive Officer Employment and 

Remuneration Committee  

 Municipal Association of Victoria  

 Joint Bridge Committee 

 North West Municipalities Association 

 Central Murray Regional Transport Forum 

 Robinvale Elders Committee 

 Murray River Group of Councils 

 Community Development Fund 

 Piangil Community Group 

 Central Murray Regional Transport Forum 

 Local Aboriginal Network Robinvale 

 Swan hill Resident Ratepayers Association 

 Event Support Fund 

 Manangatang Improvement Group 

Cr Ann Young 
 Chief Executive Officer Employment and 

Remuneration Committee  

 Swan Hill Regional Art Gallery Advisory Committee 

 Swan Hill Inc. (sub-delegate) 

 Agribusiness Advisory Committee 

 Lake Boga Inc. 

 Nyah Action Group 
 Ultima Progress Association 
 Lake Boga land on Water Committee of 

Management 

Cr Bill Moar 
 Loddon Mallee Waste and Resource Recovery 

Board 

 Audit and Risk Committee 

 Joint Bridge Committee 

 Swan Hill Regional Livestock Exchange 

 Agribusiness Advisory Committee 

 Central Victorian Greenhouse Alliance 

 Chief Executive Officer Employment and 
Remuneration Committee  

 Community Development Fund 

 Grampians Wimmera Mallee Water Advisory 
Committee 

 Pental Island levees management project steering 
committee 

 Event Support Fund 
 Rural Councils Victoria 
 

 

Cr Chris Jeffery 
 Indoor Sports Stadium Advocacy Committee 

 Swan Hill Leisure Centre Committee of 
Management (sub-delegate) 

 Lake Boga Land on Water Committee of 
Management 

 Woorinen Progress Association 

Cr Nicole McKay 
 Swan Hill Regional Art Gallery Advisory 

Committee (sub-delegate) 

 Swan Hill Inc. 

 Municipal Association of Victoria (sub delegate) 

 Rural Councils Victoria 

 Boundary Bend Progress Association 

 Local Aboriginal Network Robinvale—sub 
delegate 

 Local Aboriginal Network Swan Hill—sub 
delegate 

 Swan Hill Rate Payers—sub delegate 

Cr Stuart King 
 Swan Hill Leisure Centre Committee of 

Management  

 Swan Hill Motorplex 

 Audit and Risk Committee 

 Swan Hill Rec Reserve Advisory Committee 

 Robinvale Euston Business Association 

 Local Aboriginal Network Swan Hill 

 Rail Freight Alliance 

 Wemen Progress Association 

Cr Jacquie Kelly 
 Swan Hill Leisure Centre Committee of 

Management  

 Community Development Fund  

 Rural Councils Victoria 

 Manangatang Improvement group 

 Ultima Progress Association 

 Pental Island levees management project 
steering committee 

Cr Jade Benham 
 Municipal Association of Victoria (sub delegate) 

 Community Development Fund  

 Murray River Group of Councils 
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Conflict of interest 
Councillors and staff are required by legislation to act in the best interests of the community, During the 
course of dealing with matters that come before Council for decision, individual Councillors and 
members of staff might find that they or their immediate family, have a financial or some other 
advantage that could be interpreted as having undue influence on the outcome. A conflict of interest 
occurs when personal or private interests might compromise the ability to act in the public interest. 

To ensure transparency in the decision-making processes of Council, both Councillors and staff are 
required to declare and document their interest in a matter. Where Councillors have declared an 
interest, they take no part in the decision-making process. 

During 2022/23, 5 conflicts of interest were declared at Council and Delegated Committee meetings. 

Copies of the document Conflict of Interest: A Guide for Councillors, October 2012, published by the 
Department of Planning and Community Development, has been provided to Councillors for their 
reference. 

 

Code of Conduct 
The Local Government Act 2020 requires councils to review and adopt the Councillor Code of Conduct 
within 4 months after each general election. Swan Hill Rural City Council’s Councillor Code of Conduct 
was reviewed and adopted on 23 February 2021. 

After the review on 23 February 2021, Councillors signed the Code of Conduct declarations. 

A copy of the code is available at www.swanhill.vic.gov.au/about/overview/policies 

 

Councillor allowances 
In accordance with Section 39 of the Local Government Act 2020, Councillors are entitled to receive an 
allowance while performing their duty as a Councillor. The Deputy Mayor and Mayor are also entitled to 
receive a higher allowance.  

The State Government sets the upper and lower limits for all allowances paid to Councillors, Deputy 
Mayors and Mayors. Councils are divided into three categories based on the income and population of 
each council. In this instance Swan Hill Rural City Council is recognised as a category two council. 

For the period 1 July 2022 to 17 December 2022, the Councillor annual allowance for a category 2 
council (as defined by the Act) was up to $30,024 per annum, Deputy Mayor was up to $48,235 per 
annum and Mayor was up to $96,470 per annum. For the period 18 December 2022 to 30 June 2023, 
the Councillor annual allowance for a category 2 council increased to $31,353 per annum, Deputy 
Mayor $50,319, and the allowance for the Mayor increased to $100,637per annum. The value of the 
allowance payable to Council members is inclusive of any Superannuation Guarantee Contribution 
amount, that is payable under Commonwealth law to the Council member.   

The following table contains details of allowances paid to Councillors during the year. 

Councillor Allowance 

Cr Jade Benham (Mayor) $8,039.17  

Cr Les McPhee (Mayor) $57,836.87  

Cr Bill Moar $37,517.03  

Cr Ann Young $30,738.51  

Cr Chris Jeffery $30,738.51  

Cr Nicole McKay $30,738.51  

Cr Stuart King $42,576.89  

Cr Jacquie Kelly $13,738.01 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
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Councillor expenses 
In accordance with Section 40 of the Local Government Act 2020, Council is required to reimburse a 
Councillor for expenses incurred whilst performing his or her duties as a Councillor.  

Council is also required to adopt and maintain a policy in relation to the reimbursement of expenses for 
Councillors.  

The policy provides guidance for the payment of reimbursements of expenses and the provision of 
resources, facilities and other support to the Mayor and Councillors to enable them to discharge their 
duties.  

Council also publishes in its Annual Report the details of the expenses, including reimbursement of 
expenses for each Councillor and member of a Council Committee paid by the Council.  

The details of the expenses, including reimbursement of expenses for each Councillor and member of a 
Council Committee, paid by Council for the 2022/23 year are set out in the following table: 

 

 

Note: No expenses were paid by Council, including reimbursements, to members of Council 
Committees during the 2022/23 year. 

Councillor Travel & 

Accommodation 

Car 

Mileage 

Catering & 

 meals 

Information & 

Communication  

Conference 

& 

Training 

Total 

Cr Jade Benham  
(Mayor) 

-  - $73.00 - $73.00 

Cr Les McPhee 
(Mayor) 

$1,245.13 $5,004.06 $291.46 $904.08 $280.82 $7,725.55 

Cr Bill Moar $394.55 $878.97 $135.08 $876.00 - $2,284.60 

Cr Ann Young $200.43 $522.30 - $476.50 $86.36 $1,285.59 

Cr Chris Jeffery - - $26.89 $2,293.60 - $2,320.49 

Cr Nicole McKay - $447.02 $31.90 $933.82 $197.79 $1,610.53 

Cr Stuart King $1,176.98 $1,276.00 $210.44 $792.00 $1,102.66 $4,558.08 

Cr Jacquie Kelly $1,278.88 $1,290.94 $123.74 $1,476.93 $1,499.30 $5,669.79 
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Management 

Council has implemented a number of statutory and 
better practice items to strengthen its management 
framework.  

Having strong governance and management 
frameworks leads to better decision making by 
Council.  

The Local Government Act requires Council to 
undertake an assessment against the prescribed 
governance and management checklist and include 
this in it’s report of operations.  

Council’s Governance and Management Checklist 
results are set out in this section. The following 
items have been highlighted as important 
components of the management framework.  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
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Audit and Risk committee 
The Audit and Risk Committee is an independent 

Advisory Committee to Council and is formed under 

Section 53 of the Local Government Act 2020.   

The primary objective of the Audit and Risk Committee is 

to assist Council in the effective conduct of its 

responsibilities for: 

 Enhancing the credibility and objectivity of internal 

and external financial reporting 

 Effective management of financial processes, to 

ensure integrity and transparency 

 Effective management of risks and the protection 

of Council assets 

 Compliance with laws and regulations as well as 

use of best practice guidelines 

 The effectiveness of the internal audit function 

 The provision of an effective means of 

communication between the external auditor, 

internal auditor, management and the Council 

 Facilitating the organisation’s ethical development 

 Maintaining a reliable system of internal controls 

Member Eligible to attend Attended 

Warren Pollock, Independent member and Chairperson 1 1 

Rosanne Kava, Independent member and Chairperson 3 3 

Greg Kuchel, Independent member 4 4 

Bradley Hutchinson, Independent member 4 4 

Les McPhee, Councillor 2 2 

Nicole McKay, Councillor 2 1 

Bill Moar, Councillor 2 2 

Stuart King, Councillor 2 1 

  

Audit and Risk Committee Members 
The Audit and Risk Committee consists of five members, 

three of whom are independent experts in a range of areas 

including financial management, business, and project 

management. 

  
The members of the committee during the 2022/23 
financial year were: 
  

Warren Pollock (Chairperson) – fourth term appointment 

expired 30 September 2022. 

Rosanne Kava (chairperson) – appointed for three years, 
first term expires 30 September 2025. 

 

Greg Kuchel – appointed for three years, first term expires 
18 November 2024. 

 

Bradley Hutchinson – appointed for three years, first term 
expires 6 April 2025. 

 

Cr Les McPhee – appointed for two years at the Council 
Meeting in December 2019, term expired 31 December 
2022. 

Cr Nicole McKay – appointed for the remainder of Cr Jade 
Benham’s term. 

Cr Bill Moar  – appointed for one year at the Council 

Meeting in December 2022, term expires 31 December 

2023. 

Cr Stuart King— appointed for one year at Council 

meeting in December 2022, term expires 31 December 

2023. 

The following table contains details of attendance at Audit and Risk Committee meetings during 2022/23: 

The Total Remuneration paid to Independent members of the Audit and Risk Committee for 

2022/23 was $5973.60. 
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 Internal Audit 
Council’s internal audit function is externally resourced to provide independent and objective assurance that 

appropriate processes and controls are in place across Council. 

  

A three-year risk-based Strategic Internal Audit Plan (SIAP) is revised annually to ensure the audit resources remain 

focused on the nominated areas. 

  

The review process considers Council’s risk framework, the Council Plan, the impact of any change on our operations, 

systems or the business environment, prior audit coverage and outcomes, and relies heavily on management 

directional input. The SIAP is revised and approved by the Audit Committee annually. 

  

The Internal Auditor attends Audit Committee meetings to report on the status of the SIAP and to present findings of 

completed reviews.  

 
The responsible Director and Manager for each area reviewed is required to attend the Audit Committee meeting to 

respond to questions in relation to the review. All audit issues identified are risk rated.  

  

Recommendations are assigned to responsible managers and tracked through the Audit Committee agenda until all 

recommendations have been completed. 

  

Quality assurance is measured through completion of the review recommendations and completion of the nominated 

annual SIAP reviews. 

 

The SIAP for 2022/23 was completed with the following reviews conducted: 

· Payroll and HR 

· Accounts Payable 

In order to attain a wider review of internal audit coverage, a mix of ‘detailed’ and ‘insight’ reviews are identified.  

  

‘Detailed’ reviews typically include walk throughs, identification of key controls and sample testing of key controls to 

form a conclusion, resulting in a detailed report.  

  

‘Insight’ reviews are high level discussions with those officers responsible for managing the area of focus, resulting in a 
brief report of observations and insights. 

 

External Audit 
Council is externally audited by the Victorian Auditor-General. For the 2022/23 year the annual external audit of 

Council’s Financial Reports and Performance Statement was conducted by the Victorian Auditor-General’s 

representative, Brad Bohun of Crowe (Albury). 

  

The external auditors attend Audit and Risk Committee meetings to present the annual audit strategy and independent 

audit reports. 

  

The external audit management letters and responses are also provided and discussed with the Audit and Risk 
Committee. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
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Risk Management 

Council's Risk Management Committee consists of members from all levels of the organisations. The 

Committee meets on a quarterly basis to review operational and strategic risks and provide information to 

the Audit and Risk Committee. 

Council’s Risk Management Policy and Framework provides an integrated and consistent approach to risk 

management to ensure that risks are identified and addressed during planning, decision-making and 

everyday operations. Each department has a risk profile with strategies to minimise and mange identified 

risks. 

This year Council has continued to implement our Risk Management Framework, processes and systems 

which has further strengthened our ability to respond to changes in existing risks as well as respond to new 

risks that have been introduced through the increasing complex external environment, with particular focus 

on the areas outlined below: 

 Cybersecurity - Council continued to invest in our cyber security risk management program to 

ensure we are prepared to respond to the increasing sophistication and frequency of external 

cyberattacks 

 Integrity, ethics and culture - Council continues to make improvements to Council ’s fraud and 

corruption control framework 

 Insurance - Council continues to monitor its increasing insurance renewals which is a result of 

the industry being impacted by events both national and international. 
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Governance and Management Checklist 

The following are the results in the prescribed form of Council’s assessment against the prescribed 

governance and management checklist. 

Governance and Management Items Assessment 

1. Community Engagement Policy  

(policy under section 55 of the Act outlining Council’s 
commitment to engaging with the community on matters of 
public interest) 

Adopted in accordance with section 55 of 
the Act: 15 March 2022 

2. Community Engagement Guidelines  

(guidelines to assist staff to determine when and how to engage 
with the community) 

Date of operation of current guidelines:  

15 March 2022 

3. Financial Plan  

(plan under section 91 of the Act outlining the financial 

resources required for at least the next 10 financial years) 

Adopted in accordance with section 91 of 
the Act: 

Date of adoption: 20 July 2021 

4. Asset Plan 

(plan that set out the asset maintenance and renewal needs for 
key infrastructure asset classes for at least the next 10 years) 

Adopted in accordance of section 92 of the 
Act: 

Date of adoption: 14 June 2022 

5. Revenue and Rating Plan  

(plan under section 93 of the Act setting out the rating structure 

of Council to levy rates and charges) 

Adopted in accordance of section 93 of the 
Act: 

Date of adoption: 15 June 2021 

6. Annual Budget  

(plan under section 94 of the Act setting out the services to be 
provided and initiatives to be undertaken over the next 12 
months and the funding and other resources required) 

Adopted in accordance with section 94 of 
the Act. 

Date of adoption: 14 June 2022 

7. Risk Policy  

(policy outlining Council’s commitment and approach to 
minimising the risks to Council’s operations) 

Date of commencement of current policy:  

27 June 2023 

8. Fraud Policy  

(policy outlining Council’s commitment and approach to 
minimising the risk of fraud) 

Date of commencement of current policy:  

16 March 2021 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
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 Governance and Management Items Assessment 

9. Municipal Emergency Management Plan  

(plan under section 20 of the Emergency Management Act 1986 
for emergency prevention, response and recovery) 

Currently in process for updating in 
December 2023 by the municipal 
emergency management plan 
committee. 

Date of  current plan:   

21 July 2020 

10. Procurement Policy  

(policy under section 108 the Local Government Act 2020 
outlining the principles, processes and procedures that will apply 
to the purchase of goods, services by the Council) 

Adoption in accordance of section 
108 of the Act: 

Date of Adoption and update: 

05 January  2022 

11. Business Continuity Plan  

(plan setting out the actions that will be undertaken to ensure that 
key services continue to operate in the event of a disaster) 

Date of adoption of current plan:  

17 May 2023 

12. Disaster Recovery Plan  

(plan setting out the actions that will be undertaken to recover 
and restore business capability in the event of a disaster)  

Date of operation of current plan:  

22 March 2021 

13. Risk Management Framework  

(framework outlining Council’s approach to managing risks to the 
Council’s operations) 

Framework 

Date of operation of current 
framework: 18 January 2021 

14. Audit and Risk Committee  

(see sections 53 and 54 of the Act) 

Audit Committee established  

10 January 1998                

Audit and Risk Committee 
established under the Local 
Government Act 2020  

26 July 2023 

15. Internal Audit  

(independent accounting professionals engaged by the Council to 
provide analyses and recommendations aimed at improving 
Council’s governance, risk and management controls) 

Engaged RSM 

Date of engagement of current 
provider: 

1 July 2013 - Initial 

11 July 2018 - Re-appointed 

16. Performance Reporting Framework  

(a set of indicators measuring financial and non-financial 
performance, including the performance indicators referred to in 
section 131 of the Act) 

Framework 

Date of operation of current 
framework:12 April 2016 

Governance and Management Checklist cont... 
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Governance and Management Items Assessment 

17. Council Plan Reporting  

(report reviewing the performance of the Council against the 
Council Plan, including the results in relation to the strategic 
indicators, for the first six months of the reporting year) 

Report 

Reported to Council on: 

Qtr 1: 18/10/2022 

Qtr 2: 21/02/2023 

Qtr 3: 18/04/2023 

Qtr 4: 15/08/2023 

18. Financial Reporting  

(quarterly statements to Council under section 138(1) of the Local 
Government Act 1989, comparing actual budgeted results and an 
explanation of any material variations.) 

Reports presented to Council in 
accordance with section 138(1) of the 
Act. 

Date statements presented: 

June 2022 Quarter – 22/9/2022 

September 2022 Quarter – 15/11/2022 

December 2022 Quarter – 21/2/2023 

March 2023 Quarter – 16/5/2023 

19. Risk Reporting  

(six-monthly reports of strategic risks to Council’s operations, 
their likelihood and consequences of occurring and risk 
minimisation strategies) 

Reports 

Date of reports: 

8 September 2022, 8 December 2022, 6 
April 2023, 8 June 2023 

20. Performance Reporting  

(six-monthly reports of indicators measuring the results against 
financial and non-financial performance, including performance 
indicators referred to in section 131 of the Act) 

Council reports annually 

Date statement presented:  

In the Annual Report 2021 
15 November 2022 

21. Annual Report  

(annual report under sections 131, 132 and 133 of the Act to the 
community containing a report of operations and audited financial 
and performance statements) 

Considered at meeting of the Council in 
accordance with section 134 of the Act: 

Date of consideration: 

25 October 2022 

22. Councillor Code of Conduct  

(Code under section 139 of the Act setting out the standards of 
conduct to be followed by Councillors and other matters)  

Reviewed and adopted in accordance 
with section 139 of the Act. 

Date reviewed: 

23 February 2021 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
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I certify that this information presents fairly the status of Council’s governance and management 

arrangements. 

 

 

 

 _______________________________            ___________________________________ 

Scott Barber         Cr Les McPhee 

Chief Executive Officer       Mayor 

Dated:  17 October 2023       Dated: 17 October 2023 

Governance and Management Items Assessment 

23. Delegations  

(a document setting out the powers, duties and functions of 
Council and the Chief Executive Officer that have been delegated 
to members of staff), in accordance with sections 11 and 47 of the 
Act) 

Reviewed in accordance with 
section 11(7) of the Act and in a 
register in accordance with 
sections 11(8) and 47(7) of the Act 

Date of review: 

18 April 2023 

24. Meeting procedures  

(Governance Rules under section 60 of the Act governing the 
conduct of meetings of Council and delegated committees) 

Governance Rules adopted in 
accordance with section 60 of the 
Act. 

Date Governance rules adopted:  

21 April 2023 
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Statutory information 

Documents available for public inspection 
Council’s public transparency policy now provides 

details of how and what Council information is 

available to the public. This policy is available on 

Council’s website.  

Council’s website contains a wide array of Council 

information including all policies, plans and reports 

required under the Local Government Act 2020 and 

any other Act. 

An extensive list of publicly available information is 

provided in Council’s Part II Statement provided 

under the Freedom of Information Act 1982. This 

statement is also available on Council’s website and 

is required to be updated annually. 

Carers Recognition Act 2012 
Council has taken all practicable measures to 

comply with its responsibilities outlined in the Carers 

Recognition Act 2012. Council has promoted the 

principles of the Act to people in care relationships 

who receive Council services, and to the wider 

community by providing links to State Government 

resource materials on Council’s website and 

providing information to organisations represented in 

Council networks.  

Council has taken all practicable measures to ensure 

staff, Council agents and volunteers are informed 

about the principles and obligations under the Act by 

including information on the care relationship in 

Council induction and training programs for staff 

working in Community Care Services, and induction 

and training programs for volunteers working directly 

with the community. 

Council has taken all practicable measures to review 

and modify policies, procedures and supports to 

include recognition of the carer relationship. 

Contracts 

During 2022/23 Council entered into one contract 

valued at $200,000 or more for services without 

engaging in a competitive process. This was with the 

existing contractor for the Management and 

Operation of Leisure and Aquatic Services to ensure 

the continuity of the supply of services while Council 

undertook a procurement process for the new 

contract.  

 

During 2022/23 Council entered into the following 

contracts valued above $200,000, the contract value 

at which the Council must invite a tender under its 

Procurement Policy:                  

 

 

 

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Contract 

Type 
Description 

Capital 

Works 

Boardwalk & Viewing Platform - Monash 

Drive  

Design & 

Construct 
Robinvale Skate Park—Centenary Park 

Design & 

Construct 

Design and Construction of Splash Park 

Facility 

Capital 

Works 

John James Oval Robinvale—Lighting 

Upgrade 

Capital 

Works 

Swan Hill Town Hall Exterior 

Refurbishment 

Capital 

Works 
Monash Drive Carpark Upgrade Stage 2 

Supply of 

Services 

Waste Management Services Swan Hill, 

Robinvale 

Supply of 

Services 

Management & Operation leisure & 

Aquatic Services 

Consultant 
Concept & Detailed Design Specification 

of Art Gallery Development 

Consultant 
Concept & Detailed Design Specification 

of Tourism and Cultural Hub 

Supply of 

Services 
McCallum Street Shared path—Irrigation 

Supply of 

Services 

Swan Hill Aerodrome Electrical Lighting 

Upgrade 
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Service Performance Principles 
 

From April 2020 s106 Service Performance 
Principles of the Local Government Act 2020 
came into effect. This involves the setting of 
Quality and Cost Standards for Council services 
and annual reporting against these standards to 
the community.  

The Local Government Act 2020 requires Council 
to review its operations to ensure that the 
services provided to the community represent 
‘Good Value’. 

The following are the service performance 

principles:  

a) services should be provided in an equitable 
manner and be responsive to the diverse 
needs of the municipal community;  

b) services should be accessible to the 
members of the municipal community for 
whom the services are intended;  

c) quality and costs standards for services set 
by the Council should provide good value to 
the municipal community;  

d) a Council should seek to continuously 
improve service delivery to the municipal 
community in response to performance 
monitoring;  

e) service delivery must include a fair and 
effective process for considering and 
responding to complaints about service 
provision. 

 

Road Management Act 2004 

Council, as a road authority, is required under 
section 22 of the Road Management Act 2004 to 
publish a copy or summary of any direction 
received from the Minister in its Annual Report. 
No directions were received from the Minister in 
2022/23. 

 

Domestic Animal Act 1994 

In accordance with the Domestic Animals Act 
1994 section 68a, council is required to prepare a 
Domestic Animal Management Plan at four yearly 
intervals and evaluate its implementation in the 
Annual Report. Council adopted the Domestic 
Animal Management Plan 2022–2025 in 
November 2021. The new plan was developed 
through consultation with the community and key 
stakeholders including veterinarians, animal 
businesses and other service providers. 

 

Community Access and Inclusion 
Strategy 

In accordance with section 38 of the Disability Act 

2006, as Council has prepared a Disability Action 

Plan, which became an adopted Community 

Access and Inclusion Strategy (CAIS).  

The CAIS is now due for a review and work will 

commence by Council to develop a new CAIS in 

consultation with stakeholders and the 

community.  

The four key objectives of the CAIS are to: 
 Reduce barriers to Council services, 

programs and facilities for people with a 
disability. 

 Reduce barriers to people with a disability 
obtaining and maintaining employment. 

 Increase inclusion and participation in the 
community for people with a disability. 

 Improve community attitudes and 
perceptions that discriminate against people 
with a disability. 

 

Public interest Disclosure Act 

The Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 

commenced on 6 April 2020 and is a rebranding 

and expansion of the previous Protected 

Disclosures Act 2012.  

Council has developed procedures that provide 

for the making of disclosures. The procedures 

encourage the disclosure of improper conduct 

undertaken by Council or its employees, provide 

protections for the person making a disclosure, 

and require the reporting of assessable 

disclosures to the Independent Broad-based Anti-

corruption Commission (IBAC).  

Council takes its role and responsibilities under 

the Act very seriously. Public Interest Disclosure 

procedures also form part of the staff induction 

process.  

Staff and members of the public are encouraged 

to report matters to the public interest disclosures 

co-ordinator, if they believe on reasonable 

grounds that improper conduct or detrimental 

action has occurred or is occurring.  

One reportable matter was received in the 

2022/23 financial year. The Independent Broad-

based Anti-corruption Commission determined 

that the matter should not be treated as a public 

interest complaint. 
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Freedom of Information Act 1982 

The Freedom of Information Act 1982 provides the 

opportunity for public access to Council 

documents. 

The Act establishes a legally enforceable right for 

the community to request information, in document 

form, held by Council. 

The Act has four principles: 

1. The public has a right of access to 

documents subject to certain exceptions or 

exemptions. 

2. Local Governments are required to publish 

information on the documents they hold. 

3. Individuals may request that inaccurate, 

incomplete, out-of-date or misleading 

information about themselves be amended. 

4. Individuals may appeal against a decision not 

to give access to the document(s) or not to 

amend personal information. 

Written requests for documents must be addressed 

to Council’s Freedom of Information Officer and 

should be accompanied by an application fee of 

$31.80 (2023/24). 

A request must specify the document(s) required or 

if unable to do so, give sufficient detail to enable 

the relevant document(s) to be located, the form of 

access required and include the applicant’s contact 

details. 

In December 2019, the Victorian Information 

Commissioner issued Professional Standards 

relating to the conduct of an agency in performing 

its functions under the Act, and the administration 

and operation of the Act by an agency. 

Council received eight requests in 2022/23 and one 

request was carried over from 2021/22. Two 

requests were released in-part for 2022/23, one 

request was denied in-full, one request was 

answered outside of the FOI Act, one request was 

withdrawn and four requests carried forward to 

2022/23 

Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014 

Council respects the privacy of its citizens, 

ratepayers and clients. Council is committed to the 

privacy principles prescribed by the Privacy and 

Data Protection Act 2014 and the Health Records 

Act 2001. 

Council has adopted a Privacy Policy that 

addresses the requirements of both Acts. A copy of 

the policy is available at the Council offices during 

business hours and at Council’s website 

www.swanhill.vic.gov.au. 

Council received no privacy complaints in the 

2022/23 financial year. 

Food Act Ministerial Direction 

In accordance with 7E of the Food Act 1984, 

Council is required to publish a summary of any 

ministerial directions received during the financial 

year in its Annual Report. No such Ministerial 

Directions were received in the 2022/23 financial 

year. 

Local Laws 

Council has the following Local Laws in place: 

 Number of 

requests 

Fees and 

charges 

Costs to 

Council 

2022/23 8 $208 $4,525 

2021/22 3 $155 $939 

2020/21 8 $287 $5,125 

2019/20 3 $114 $1,100 

2018/19 3 $87 $6,250 

Local Law Date  

adopted 

Date 

operational 

Community Local 

Law No. 2 

16 May 2017 2 June 2017 

Regional Livestock 

Exchange Local 

Law 2021 

16 November 

2021 

16 November 

2021 

http://www.swanhill.vic.gov.au
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Policies, strategies and plans  

As representatives of the community, Council develops the policies that guide and inform of Council 
activity. The following policies, strategies and plans were reviewed and/or adopted in 2022/23. 

Policy/Strategy/Plan Date reviewed/adopted 

 

Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality Policy 

 

20 October 2022 

Safe Driving Policy 26 October 2022 

Corporate Credit Cards Policy 11 November 2022 

Child Safe Standards Policy 17 November 2022 

Grants Application Policy 01 December 2022 

MCH Consent to Collect Client Information 08 December 2022 

Alternative Waterwise Naturestrip Treatments 22 December 2022 

Induction Policy 16 December 2022 

Domestic Animal management Plan 21 December 2022 

Citizenship Ceremony Dress Code 10 January 2023 

Volunteer Management Policy 24 January 2023 

Public Transparency Policy 15 February 2022 

Media Policy 24 February 2023 

OHS Framework and Management Plan 21 February 2023 

Lease and Licencing Policy 28 February 2023 

Website Policy 28 February 2023 

Fencing Contribution Policy 21 April 2023 

Financial Hardship Policy 21 April 2023 

Council Expense Policy 21 April 2023 

Community Events and Grants Policy 

Governance Rules 

Business Continuity Framework 

Procurement Policy 

Project Management Framework 

21 April 2023 

24 April 2023 

18 May 2023 

30 June 2023 

30 June 2023 
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Description of municipality 

Swan Hill Rural City Council covers 6,116 square kilometres and is home to 20,207* people. 

It includes the townships of Swan Hill, Robinvale, Lake Boga, Nyah, Nyah West, Piangil, Beverford, Woorinen, 
Ultima, Manangatang and Boundary Bend. 

The Swan Hill municipality has experienced significant growth over the past decade, led by the expansion of 
horticultural/agricultural practices and supported by an innovative manufacturing sector.  

This success is depicted by the fact that the region is Australia’s largest producer of table grapes, pistachios and 
olives, responsible for one quarter of all carrots nationwide, a top contributor to the stone fruit industry and 
accounts for approximately 70 percent of Australia’s Almonds and Olive Oil production. 

Almost 22 per cent of the total economic output from the region comes from agricultural production.  

Irrigated farming (including stone fruit, grapes, nuts, olives and vegetable production) accounts for over 15 per 
cent of the total economic output for the municipality , while traditional livestock and broadacre farming accounts 
for almost 5 per cent. More than 17 per cent of all jobs in the city are directly related to agriculture. Additionally 
food manufacturing (processing) accounts for almost 9 per cent of the municipality’s economic output.  

Located along the Murray River, tourism plays an important role in our region’s* economy. Our climate and 
natural beauty attract around 574,000 visitors each year as reported in the Murray Regional Tourism (MRT) 
Snapshot Report- December 2021. 

 

Operational summary 

The Comprehensive Income Statement reports a surplus of $6.8m.  This includes depreciation and other non-

monetary contributions, but excludes capital payments of $14.9m and loan repayments of $0.3m. 

Our operating and capital revenue returned to what would be considered a more normal level of funding this 

year, following increases in the 2021 and 2022 years from various economic stimulus programs during the 

coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19).  A number of these projects were still ongoing at the end of the 2023 year, 

and Council has endeavored to complete these projects as soon as possible.  It should be noted that $8.6m of 

the $18.1m reported for Grants – operating, is the prepayment received for Councils allocation of the 2023-24 

Financial Assistance Grant.   

A significant issue faced by Council during 2023 was the attraction and retention of staff, which resulted in 

employee costs being $1.0m less than forecast.  Council experienced a number of positions which remained 

vacant for extended periods due to issues faced with recruiting suitably qualified staff.  For a number of Council 

services there are considerable shortages within the industry, and Council has been competing with private 

industry to attract these staff.  Areas such as building and planning, engineers, and project management staff 

have been difficult to recruit. 

Another impact increasing our operational revenue and expenses relates to Council’s lead role in administering 

a Commonwealth Regional Growth Fund on behalf of six partner councils.  Our operational income and 

expenditure includes $1.6m from this arrangement in 2023. 

Council remains active in the residential land development at Tower Hill Estate in Swan Hill; having a new stage 

made available for sale during the year.  The development continues to be cash-flow positive, and provide a 

return on investment of $330k.  

*This population estimate figure is provided by Local Government Victoria for the performance reporting of 2022/23. 

*Swan Hill Region includes the Swan Hill Rural City, Gannawarra Shire and Balranald Shire 
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Sustainable Capacity Indicators 

PERFORMANCE STATEMENT 

 Results  

Service/indicator/

measure 

2020 2021 2022 2023 Material variations 

Population 

Expenses per 

head of municipal 

population 

[Total expenses/

Municipal 

population] 

 

 

 

 

$2,362.58 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

$2,525.03 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

$2,604.00 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

$2,580.75 

 

No material variation 

Infrastructure per 

head of municipal 

population  

[Value of 

infrastructure/

Municipal 

population] 

$20,331.95 $20,751.24 $24,532.17 $24,772.76 No material variation 

Population density 

per length of road 

[Municipal 

population/

Kilometres of local 

roads] 

5.65 5.62 6.45 6.16 

 

No material variation 

Own-source 

revenue 

Own-source 

revenue per head 

of municipal 

population 

[Own-source 

revenue/Municipal 

population] 

 

$1,763.31 

 

$1,902.26 

 

$1,939.98 

 

$1,909.61 

 

No material variation 
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 Results  

Service/indicator/

measure 

2020 2021 2022 2023 Material variations 

Recurrent grants 

Recurrent grants per 

head of municipal 

population 

[Recurrent grants/Municipal 

population] 

 

$569.62 

 

 

$586.59 

 

$662.68 

 

$682.18 

 

No material variation 

Disadvantage 

Relative socio-economic 

disadvantage 

[Index of Relative  

Socio-economic 

disadvantage by decile] 

 

2.00 

 

 

2.00 

 

2.00 

 

1.00 

Socio-Economic Indexes for 

Areas (SEIFA) is a product 

developed by the ABS that 

ranks areas in Australia 

according to relative socio-

economic advantage and 

disadvantage. They indicate 

the collective socio-economic 

characteristics of the people 

living in an area. 

Workforce turnover  

Percentage of staff 

turnover 

[Number of permanent staff 

resignations and 

terminations / Average 

number of permanent staff 

for the financial year] x 100 

 

10.81% 

 

14.40% 

 

21.16% 

 

22.09% 

 

Council has an aging 

workforce and movement 

during COVID-19 has had a 

direct impact on our turnover 

rate. 

Sustainable Capacity Indicator definitions 

“adjusted underlying revenue” means total income 

other than:  

(a) non-recurrent grants used to fund capital      

expenditure; and 

(b) non-monetary asset contributions; and 

(c) contributions to fund capital expenditure from 

sources other than those referred to above. 

“infrastructure” means non-current property, plant and 
equipment excluding land. 

"local road" means a sealed or unsealed road for 
which the council is the responsible road authority 
under the Road Management Act 2004. 

"population" means the resident population estimated 
by council. 

"own-source revenue" means adjusted underlying 

revenue other than revenue that is not under the 

control of council (including government grants). 

"relative socio-economic disadvantage", in relation to 

a municipality, means the relative socio-economic 

disadvantage, expressed as a decile for the relevant 

financial year, of the area in which the municipality is 

located according to the Index of Relative Socio-

Economic Disadvantage (Catalogue Number 

2033.0.55.001) of SEIFA. 

"SEIFA" means the Socio-Economic Indexes for 

Areas published from time to time by the Australian 

Bureau of Statistics on its Internet website. 

"unrestricted cash" means all cash and cash 

equivalents other than restricted cash.  

Sustainable Capacity Indicators cont... 
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Service Performance Indicators 
PERFORMANCE STATEMENT 

 Results  

Service/indicator/measure 2020 2021 2022 2023 Material variations 

Aquatic Facilities 

Utilisation 

Utilisation of aquatic facilities 

[Number of visits to aquatic 

facilities / Municipal population] 

 

 

4.56 

 

 

3.43 

 

 

5.58 

 

 

6.17 

Utilisation of aquatic facilities 

has increased due to COVID-19 

restrictions being lifted in late 

2022, allowing full use of 

facilities. Previous years had 

restrictions which decreased 

usage of these venues. 

Animal management 

Health and safety 

Animal management 

prosecutions 

[Number of successful animal 

management prosecutions/ Number 

of animal management 

prosecutions] x 100 

 

 

 

0.00% 

 

 

 

 

100.00% 

 

 

0.00% 

 

 

 

0.00% 

 

There were no animal 

management prosecutions in 

2022/23. 

Food and safety 

Health and safety 

Critical and major non-

compliance outcome notifications 

[Number of critical non-compliance 

notifications and major non-

compliance notifications about a 

food premises followed up / Number 

of critical non-compliance 

notifications and major non-

compliance notifications about food 

premises] x 100 

 

 

100.00% 

 

 

66.67% 

 

 

40.00% 

 

 

100.00% 

 

 

Increase in outcomes is due to a 

dedicated Environmental Health 

Officer was employed to 

complete Food and Safety 

Inspections. All critical major 

and crucial non-compliance 

outcome notifications were 

followed up within the 2022 

calendar year.  

Governance 

Satisfaction 

Satisfaction with Council 

decisions 

[Community satisfaction rating out of 

100 with how Council has performed 

in making decisions in the interest of 

the community] 

 

 

45 

 

 

48 

 

 

45 

 

 

45 

 

No material variation  
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 Results  

Service/indicator/measure 2020 2021 2022 2023 Material variations 

Libraries 

Participation 

Active library borrowers in 

municipality 

[Number of active library 

borrowers in the last three 

years / the sum of the population 

for the last three years] x 100 

 

 

16.28% 

 

 

14.52% 

 

 

13.35% 

 

 

13.41% 

 

No material variation 

Maternal and Child Health  

Participation 

Participation in the MCH 

service 

[Number of children who attend 

the MCH service at least once 

(in the year) / Number of children 

enrolled in the MCH service] x 

100 

 

 

 

75.04% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

80.05% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

82.74% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

89.19% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Slight increase due to increased 

capacity to follow up on overdue 

Key Ages & Stages visits each 

month 

 

Participation in the MCH 

service by Aboriginal children 

[Number of Aboriginal children 

who attend the MCH service at 

least once (in the year) / Number 

of Aboriginal children enrolled in 

the MCH service] x 100 

 

66.20% 

 

76.26% 

 

77.50% 

 

83.57% 
Council have an agreement to 

provide MCH services on behalf 

of MDAS in Swan Hill.  It is 

noted that there is an increase 

in Aboriginal children/families 

enrolling in mainstream services 

over the 22/23 year 

Roads 

Satisfaction 

Satisfaction with sealed local 

roads 

[Community satisfaction rating 

out of 100 with how Council has 

performed on the condition of 

sealed local roads] 

 

 

44 

 

 

 

52 

 

51 

 

44 

 

The decrease on the previous 

year’s satisfaction with sealed 

roads can be attributed to the 

major flood event combined with 

localised flooding in what has 

proven to be one of the wettest 

years on record. 

Service Performance Indicators cont... 
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Service Performance Indicator 
definitions 

"Aboriginal child" means a child who is an 
Aboriginal person. 

"Aboriginal person" has the same meaning as in the 
Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006.  

"active library borrower" means a member of a 
library who has borrowed a book from the library.  

"annual report" means an annual report prepared by 
a council under section 98 of the Act. 

“class 1 food premises” means food premises, 
within the meaning of the Food Act 1984, that have 
been declared as class 1 food premises under 
section 19C of that Act.  

“class 2 food premises” means food premises, 
within the meaning of the Food Act 1984 , that have 
been declared as class 2 food premises under 
section 19C of that Act.  

"critical non-compliance outcome notification" 
means a notification received by council under  

section 19N(3) or (4) of the Food Act 1984 , or advice 
given to council by an authorized officer under that 
Act, of a deficiency that poses an immediate serious 
threat to public health.  

"food premises" has the same meaning as in the 
Food Act 1984.  

"local road" means a sealed or unsealed road for 
which the council is the responsible road authority 
under the Road Management Act 2004. 

"major non-compliance outcome notification" means 
a notification received by a council under section 19N
(3) or (4) of the Food Act 1984, or advice given to 
council by an authorized officer under that Act, of a 
deficiency that does not pose an immediate serious 
threat to public health but may do so if no remedial 
action is taken.  

"MCH" means the Maternal and Child Health Service 
provided by a council to support the health and 
development of children within the municipality from 
birth until school age. 

"population" means the resident population estimated 
by council.  

 Results  

Service/indicator/ 2020 2021 2022 2023 Material variations 

Statutory Planning 

Decision making 

Council planning decisions 

upheld at VCAT 

[Number of VCAT decisions 

that did not set aside 

Council’s decision in relation 

to a planning application / 

Number of VCAT decisions in 

relation to planning 

applications] x 100 

 

 

0.00% 

 

0.00% 

 

0.00% 

 

75.00% 

 

In 2022/23 Council had 5 Planning 

applications refered to VCAT with 3 

being upheld and 2 were not 

compared to previous years where 

we had no planning decisions 

upheld at VCAT. 

 

 

Waste collection 

Waste diversion 

Kerbside collection waste 

diverted from landfill 

[Weight of recyclables and 

green organics collected from 

kerbside bins / Weight of 

garbage, recyclables and 

green organics collected from 

kerbside bins] x 100 

 

 

27.67% 

 

 

29.51% 

 

 

30.92% 

 

 

29.28% 

 

 

No Material variation 

PERFORMANCE STATEMENT 
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Financial Performance Indicators 
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Former Indicators  

  Results 

Service/indicator/measure 2018 2019 2020 

Animal management 

Health and safety 

Animal management prosecutions 

[Number of successful animal management  

prosecutions] 

  

2 

  

0 

  

Retired in 2020. 

Efficiency  

Revenue level  

Average residential rate per residential   

property assessment  

[Residential rate revenue / Number of    

residential property assessments]  

 

$1,636.84  

  
 

$1,690.08 

  

Retired in 2020. 

Obligations 

Asset renewal 

Asset renewal compared to depreciation  
[Asset renewal expenses / Asset            

depreciation] x100 

  

90.90% 

  

116.77% 

 

Retired in 2020. 

 Financial Performance Indicator definitions 

"adjusted underlying revenue" means total income 
other than: 

 (a) non-recurrent grants used to fund capital 
expenditure; and  

 (b) non-monetary asset contributions; and  

 (c) contributions to fund capital expenditure from 
sources other than those referred to above. 

"adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)" means 
adjusted underlying revenue less total expenditure. 

"asset renewal expenditure" means expenditure on 
an existing asset or on replacing an existing asset 
that returns the service capability of the asset to its 
original capability. 

“current assets” has the same meaning as in the 
Australian Accounting Standards (AAS). 

"current liabilities" has the same meaning as in the 
AAS. 

“non-current assets” means all assets other than 
current assets. 

"non-current liabilities" means all liabilities other than 
current liabilities. 

 

 

 

“non-recurrent grant” means a grant obtained on the 
condition that it be expended in a specified manner 
and is not expected to be received again during the 
period covered by a council's Strategic Resource 
Plan. 

"own-source revenue" means adjusted underlying 
revenue other than revenue that is not under the 
control of council (including government grants. 

"population "means the resident population estimated 
by council. 

“rate revenue” means revenue from general rates, 
municipal charges, service rates and service charges. 

"recurrent grant "means a grant other than a non-
recurrent grant. 

"residential rates" means revenue from general rates, 
municipal charges, service rates and service charges 
levied on residential properties. 

"restricted cash" means cash and cash equivalents, 
within the meaning of the AAS, that are not available 
for use other than for a purpose for which it is 
restricted, and includes cash to be used to fund 
capital works expenditure from the previous financial 
year. 

"unrestricted cash" means all cash and cash 
equivalents other than restricted cash.  
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Other information 

 

1. Basis of preparation 

Council is required to prepare and include a performance statement within its annual report. The 

performance statement includes the results of the prescribed sustainable capacity, service performance 

and financial performance indicators and measures together with a description of the municipal district 

and an explanation of material variations in the results. This statement has been prepared to meet the 

requirements of the Local Government Act 2020 and Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 

Regulations 2020. 

Where applicable the results in the performance statement have been prepared on accounting bases 

consistent with those reported in the Financial Statements. The other results are based on information 

drawn from Council information systems or from third parties (e.g. Australian Bureau of Statistics).  

The performance statement presents the actual results for the current year and for the prescribed 

financial performance indicators and measures, the results forecast by Council’s strategic resource plan. 

The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020 requires explanation of any material 

variations in the results contained in the performance statement. Council has adopted materiality 

thresholds relevant to each indicator and measure and explanations have not been provided for variations 

below the materiality thresholds unless the variance is considered to be material because of its nature.  

The forecast figures included in the performance statement are those adopted by Council in its financial 

plan on 20 July 2021 and which forms part of the Council Plan. The financial plan includes estimates 

based on key assumptions about the future that were relevant at the time of adoption and aimed at 

achieving sustainability over the long term. Detailed information on the actual financial results is contained 

in the General Purpose Financial Statements. The financial plan can be obtained by contacting Council.  

PERFORMANCE STATEMENT 
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Certification of the performance statement 

In my opinion, the accompanying performance statement has been prepared in accordance with the 

Local Government Act 2020 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020. 

 

 

…………………………………………….. 

Bhan Pratap FCPA 

Principal Accounting Officer  

Dated: 19 September 2023 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying performance statement of the Swan Hill Rural City Council for the year 

ended 30 June 2023 presents fairly the results of Council’s performance in accordance with the Local 

Government Act 2020 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020. 

The performance statement contains the relevant performance indicators, measures and results in 

relation to service performance, financial performance and sustainable capacity.  

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render any particulars in the 

performance statement to be misleading or inaccurate.  

We have been authorised by the Council and by the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 

Regulations 2020 to certify this performance statement in its final form.  

 

…………………………………………….. 

Les McPhee 

Councillor (Mayor) 

Dated: 19 September 2023 

 

…………………………………………….. 

Stuart King 

Councillor (Deputy Mayor) 

Dated: 19 September 2023 

 

…………………………………………….. 

Scott Barber 

Chief Executive Officer 

Dated: 19 September 2023 
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Auditor General’s Report - Performance Statement 
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Appendices 

Donations and contributions  

Organisation Purpose Amount 

1st Lake Boga Sea Scouts Contribution $2,600.00 

Annuello 100 Contribution $1,000.00 

Annuello 100 Support $51.25 

Australia Day Activities  Contribution $7150.12 

Chinkapook Reserves Committee of Management Inc Contribution $2,580.00 

Fight Cancer Foundation Limited Contribution $2,000.00 

Fijian Community Group Support $5,000.00 

Go North Arts Festival  Contribution $24,125.00 

Go North Arts Festival  Support $6,414.50 

Lake Boga Bowling Club Inc Contribution $5,450.00 

Lake Boga Yacht Club Inc Contribution $1,000.00 

Lake Boga Yacht Club Inc Support $1,000.00 

Landcare Victoria Inc Contribution $2,000.00 

Lead Loddon Murray Inc Contribution $8,000.00 

Lifestyle Markets Australia Inc  Support $582.20 

Lions Club of Lake Boga Inc Contribution $2,000.00 

Mallee Almond Blossom Festival Committee Support $21,705.00 

Mallee Steam Oil & Machinery Club Inc Contribution $5,000.00 

Manangatang Hotel Contribution $1,000.00 

Northern District Croquet Association Inc Contribution $1,000.00 

Nyah District Christmas Carnival Committee Contribution $2,000.00 

Pioneer Country Quarter Horse Assoc Inc Support $5,000.00 

Robinvale Euston Event Management Association  Support $1,570.85 

Robinvale Lawn Tennis Club Inc Contribution $7,335.00 

Robinvale Network House  - Music Concert Support $1,000.00 

Robinvale Network House  - Robinvale Christmas Carnival Contribution $3,000.00 

Robinvale Network House  - Robinvale Christmas Carnival Support $528.20 

Robinvale Rifle Club Inc Contribution $6,815.00 
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Organisation Purpose Amount 

Robinvale Wines Contribution $1,000.00 

RocKwiz LIVE Under the Stars  Support $25,000.00 

Speewa Heritage Collectors Club Inc Contribution $1,800.00 

Speewa Heritage Collectors Club Inc Support $4,000.00 

Sustainable Living in the Mallee Contribution $1,000.00 

Swan Hill & District Garden Club Inc Contribution $1,000.00 

Swan Hill Badminton Association Contribution $1,500.00 

Swan Hill Bowls Club Inc Contribution $8,000.00 

Swan Hill Club Contribution $1,000.00 

Swan Hill Field & Game Contribution $2,000.00 

Swan Hill Football Club Incorporated Contribution $500.00 

Swan Hill Genealogical & Historical Society Support $2,914.50 

Swan Hill Incorporated Support $15,343.20 

Swan Hill Incorporated Contribution $4,705.00 

Swan Hill Jockey Club Contribution $1,000 

Swan Hill Neighbourhood House Inc Contribution $5,000.00 

Swan Hill Sikh Association - Diwali Festival  Support $26,800.00 

Swan Hill Theatre Group Co-Operative Ltd Contribution $3,500.00 

Tennis Seniors Victoria INC Contribution $40,000.00 

Ultima Football Netball Club Contribution $2,500.00 

Ultima Progress Association Inc Contribution $1,000.00 

Victoria Police Bowling Club Contribution $2,500.00 

Visitor Community Comfort Centre Support $27.90 

Youth Endeavour Scholarship - 2 years Contribution $4,500.00 
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Appendix 2: Organisations of which Council is a financial member 

Organisation Amount 

Arts Hub Australia Pty Ltd $350.00 

Australasian Fleet Managers Association $453.64 

Australian Livestock Markets Association $737.88 

Australian Livestock Saleyards Association Inc $1,536.85 

Australian Museums & Galleries Association Victoria $221.82 

Central Victorian Greenhouse Alliance $12,750.00 

Community Childcare Association $254.55 

Local Government Infrastructure Design Association $500.00 

Murray River Group of Councils $9,601.68 

Municipal Association of Victoria $29,725.00 

Municipal Works Operations Association $250.00 

Murray River Regional Tourism Limited $29,589.00 

Performing Arts Connections Australia $1,000.00 

Public Libraries Victoria Network $1,969.00 

Public Galleries Association of Victoria $872.73 

National Saleyards Quality Assurance Inc $565.00 

Rural Councils Victoria Inc $4,000.00 

School Crossing Victoria Inc $100.00 

Victorian Association of Performing Arts Centres $1,555.45 

Victorian Maternal Child and Health $75.00 

Victorian Tourism Industry Limited $700.00 

  

  

  

  



 

General Purpose 
Financial Statements 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

Understanding the Financial 
Statements 

Introduction 
 

The financial report is a key report by the Swan Hill 
Rural City Council. It shows how Council performed 
financially during the 2022/23 financial year and the 
overall position at the end of the financial year 
(30 June 2023).  
Council presents its financial report in accordance 
with the Australian Accounting Standards.  

Particular terms required by the standards might not 
be familiar to some readers. Council is committed to 
accountability and it is in this context that the 
following explanations have been developed to assist 
readers understand and analyse the financial report. 

 

What is contained in the Annual Financial 
Report? 
 

Council’s financial report has two main sections, 
namely the report and the notes. There are five 
statements and 10 notes. These are prepared by 
Council staff, examined by the Audit and Risk 
Committee and Council, and are audited by the 
Victorian Auditor-General.  
The five statements included in the first few pages of 
the report are the Comprehensive Income Statement, 
Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, 
Statement of Cash Flows and Statement of Capital 
Works.  

The notes detail Council’s accounting policies and 
the make-up of values contained in the statements. 

1. Comprehensive Income Statement 
 

The Comprehensive Income Statement measures 
Council’s performance over the year and shows if a 
surplus or a deficit has been made in delivering 
services.  
The statement includes all sources of income, less all 
operating expenses incurred in delivering Council 
services. This includes depreciation, or the writing 
down, of the value of buildings, roads, footpaths, 
drains and all other infrastructure assets that are 
used to deliver Council services.  

These assets are depreciated over the life of the 
asset or as they are consumed. Capital costs or new 
assets purchased or created during the year are 
excluded from the statement but, as indicated above, 
are depreciated as they are used.  

The statement is prepared on an accrual basis. This 
means that generally all income and costs for the 
year are recognised even though the income may not 
yet be received (such as interest on bank deposits) 
or expenses not yet paid (invoices not yet received 
for goods and services already used).  

 

2. Balance Sheet 
 

The Balance Sheet is an important financial 
statement. This one-page summary is a snapshot of 
the financial position as at 30 June 2023. It shows 
what the Council owns as assets and what it owes as 
liabilities.  
The bottom line of this statement is net assets. This 
is the net worth of Council that has been built up over 
many years.  

The assets and liabilities are separated into current 
and non-current. Current means those assets or 
liabilities that will fall due or be consumed in the next 
12 months. The components of the Balance Sheet 
are described on the following page. 
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Current and non-current assets 
 

 Cash includes cash and cash equivalents  
i.e. cash held in the bank, petty cash and term 
deposits. 

 Receivables are monies owed to Council by 
ratepayers and other debtors. 

 Other assets include income earned but not 
yet received and accounts which have been 
prepaid. 

 Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure is 
the largest component of Council’s worth and 
represents the value of all land, buildings, 
roads, vehicles, equipment, and other items 
which have been invested in by Council over 
many years. 

 

Current and non-current liabilities 
 

 Payables are those to whom Council owes 
money as at 30 June 2023. 

 Provisions include employee benefits, which is 
the accounting term for accrued long service 
and annual leave. Landfill restoration works 
are also grouped under provisions. 

 Interest bearing loans and borrowings, which 
are repaid over a set period of time, finance 
leases that are leases of assets where 
ownership of the asset is transferred to the 
Council. 

 

Net assets 
 

This term is used to describe the difference between 
the value of total assets and the value of total 
liabilities. It represents the net worth of Council as at 
30 June 2023. The net value of the Council is also 
synonymous with total equity. 

 

Total equity 

 Asset revaluation reserve is the difference 
between the previously recorded value of 
property and infrastructure assets and their 
current valuations. 

 Accumulated surplus is the value of all net 
assets accumulated over time, including other 
reserve allocations for specific projects. 

3. Statement of Changes in Equity 
 

During the course of the year, the value of total 
ratepayers equity as set out in the Balance Sheet 
changes. This statement shows the values of such 
changes and how these changes arose.  

The main reason for a change in equity stem from: 

 The surplus/(deficit) for the year from 
operations, described in the Comprehensive 
Income Statement as the surplus/(deficit) for 
the year. 

 Revaluation of assets; takes on a regular 
schedule basis on average every three years. 
It also occurs when existing assets are taken 
up in the books for the first time. 

4. Statement of Cash Flows 
 

The Statement of Cash Flows summarises Council’s 
cash payments and cash receipts for the year. This 
statement is presented according to a very specific 
accounting standard and needs some care in 
analysis.  

The values may differ from those shown in the 
Comprehensive Income Statement because the 
Comprehensive Income Statement is prepared on an 
accrual accounting basis.  

Cash in this statement refers to bank deposits and 
other forms of highly liquid investments that can 
readily be converted to cash.  

Council’s cash arises from, and is used in, three main 
areas: 

Cash flow operating activities 

 Receipts – all cash received into Council’s 
bank account from ratepayers and others that 
owed money to Council. Receipts also include 
the interest earned from Council’s cash 
investments. It does not include the costs 
associated with the sale of assets. 

 Payments – all cash paid by Council from its 
bank account to staff, creditors and other 
persons. It does not include the costs 
associated with the creation of assets. 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

Cash flow from investing activities 
 

The accounting term investing activities relates to 
payments for the acquisition and creation of assets, 
such as new plant, roads and other long-term 
revenue producing assets, and the proceeds from 
the sale of assets such as plant and land. 

 

Cash flow from financing activities 
 

This is where the receipt and repayment of 
borrowed funds are recorded. The bottom line of the 
Cash Flow Statement is the cash at end of financial 
year. This shows the capacity of Council to meet its 
debts and other liabilities. 

 

5. Statement of Capital Works 
 

Each year a significant portion of Council budget 
gets allocated to Capital Works projects. This 
Statement aims to give readers an understanding of 
what capital works assets have been built, upgraded 
or renewed throughout the financial year.  

This Statement is broken down by asset category to 
provide further information as to what asset 
category these funds have been spent. 

 

Notes to the Accounts 
 

The notes are a very important and informative 
section of the report. The Australian Accounting 
Standards are not prescriptive in a lot of issues. 
Therefore, to enable the reader to understand the 
basis on which the values shown in the statements 
are established, it is necessary to provide details of 
Council’s accounting policies within the notes. 
The notes give details behind many of the summary 
figures contained in the statements. The note 
numbers are shown beside the relevant items in the 
Comprehensive Income Statement, Balance Sheet, 
Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash 
Flows and Statement of Capital Works. 

Where Council wishes to disclose other information 
that cannot be incorporated onto the face of the 
Statements, this is shown in the notes. 

The notes also include a comparison to budget 
(note 2). This note reports on the actual 
performance of Council to its adopted budget, and 
provides commentary to all material variances.  

The notes should be read at the same time as, and 
together with, the other parts of the financial 
statements to get a clear picture of the accounts. 

Statements by Principal Accounting 
Officer and Councillors 
 

The Certification of the Principal Accounting Officer 
is made by the person responsible for the financial 
management of Council that, in his opinion, the 
financial statements have met all the statutory and 
professional reporting requirements.  
The Certification of Councillors is made by two 
Councillors on behalf of Council that, in their 
opinion, the financial statements are fair and not 
misleading. The Chief Executive Officer also 
endorses and signs the certification. 

 

Auditor General’s Report 
 

The Independent Audit Report is the external and 
independent opinion on the financial statements. It 
provides the reader with a totally independent 
opinion on the financial statements. The opinion 
covers both the statutory and professional 
requirements and also the fairness aspects of the 
financial statements. 
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